# A PARASITOLOGICAL SURVEY OF THE CASCADE RED FOX (VULPES VULPES CASCADENSIS) AND THE COYOTE (CANIS LATRANS) IN MOUNT RAINIER NATIONAL PARK

by

Jessica Brown

A Thesis Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Master of Environmental Studies The Evergreen State College June 2018 ©2018 by Jessica Brown. All rights reserved.

This Thesis for the Master of Environmental Studies Degree

by

Jessica Brown

has been approved for

The Evergreen State College

by

Tara Chestnut, PhD Member of the Faculty

Date

# ABSTRACT

A parasitological survey of the Cascade red fox (*Vulpes vulpes cascadensis*) and the coyote (*Canis latrans*) in Mount Rainier National Park.

Jessica Brown

Loss of biodiversity is widespread and increasing numbers of carnivores in North America are suffering from population decline and reduced distribution. The risk of extinction is reality for many of these species, predominately due to the consequences of human activities. The complexity of biodiversity loss has been linked to environmental alterations such as habitat loss and fragmentation, pollution, urbanization, and climate change. In addition, disease emergence among wildlife, including parasitism, is accelerating at an alarming rate. Parasites and pathogens often interact with other environmental stressors and cause species population decline. Species with small populations and low genetic diversity are at the greatest risk of extirpation. Thus the aim of this study was to identify parasitic helminths of the Cascade red fox (Vulpus vulpes cascadensis) and the sympatric coyote (Canis latrans) in the Mount Rainier National Park (MORA) of Washington State. Cascade red fox, an extremely rare mesocarnivore, has experienced a decline in population and a recent loss of genetic diversity. In order to understand the potential negative impact of parasitism in Cascade red fox, I begin by describing some common canine helminths. Further, I address the impact that multiple stressors play on immune function, the effect of climate change on parasitism, and the dynamics of coinfecting parasites. Additionally, I describe the impact of inbreeding in small wildlife populations and their consequent susceptibility to disease. To further understand the threats to Cascade red fox and to help identify mitigation strategies, it is necessary to also include parasite monitoring. For this study, helminths were identified and quantified through the use of fecal flotations on scats collected from trails in MORA. The knowledge gained from this research will provide a baseline to enhance future conservation efforts of Cascade red fox.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
THE RED FOX	2
CASCADE RED FOX	
PARASITES	7
HELMINTHS	
Nematodes	
Ascarids	
Toxacara canis	
Toxascaris leonina	
Hookworms	
Whipworms	
Cestodes	
Echinoccocus multilocaris	
Trematodes	
MULTIPLE STRESSORS ON IMMUNE FUNCTION	
CLIMATE CHANGE AND PARASITISM	
COINFECTION DYNAMICS	
INBREEDING DEPRESSION AND DISEASE SUSCEPTIBILITY	
CONCLUSION	
References	
FIGURES	

### CHAPTER 2: PARASITOLOGICAL SURVEY OF THE CASCADE RED FOX AND THE COYOTE IN MOUNT RAINIER NATIONAL PARK ......

ND THE COYOTE IN MOUNT RAINIER NATIONAL PARK	52
Abstract	53
INTRODUCTION	54
Methods	56
Study area	56
Sample collection	57
Laboratory analyses	58
Data analyses	59
RESULTS	60
DISCUSSION	60
Limitations	64
CONCLUSION	66
References	67
TABLES	
FIGURES	73

CHAPTER 3: SUMMARY/CONCLUSION	86
References	90

# LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1.1. FEMALE CASCADE RED FOX IN MOUNT RAINIER NATIONAL PARK	5
FIGURE 1.2. MOUNT RAINIER NATIONAL PARK	5
FIGURE 1.3. MAP: WASHINGTON STATE AND CASCADE RANGE	5
FIGURE 1.4. DIRECT AND INDIRECT NEMATODE LIFE CYCLE	7
FIGURE 1.5. TOXOCARA CANIS EGG	7
FIGURE 1.6. TOXOCARA CANIS LIFE CYCLE	3
FIGURE 1.7. TOXASCARIS LEONINA EGG	9
FIGURE 1.8. EMBRYONATED TOXASCARIS LEONINA EGGS	9
FIGURE 1.9. ANCYLOSTOMA CANINUM LIFE CYCLE	)
FIGURE 1.10. ANCYLOSTOMA CANINUM AND TRICHURIS VULPIS EGGS	1
FIGURE 1.11. <i>DIPLYDIUM CANINUM</i> EGGS	1
FIGURE 2.1. MAP: WASHINGTON STATE AND MOUNT RAINIER NATIONAL PARK	3
FIGURE 2.2. MOUNT RAINIER TRAILS SURVEYED 2016	4
FIGURE 2.3. MOUNT RAINIER TRAILS SURVEYED 2017	5
FIGURE 2.4. COYOTE SCAT AND GPS	5
FIGURE 2.5. CASCADE RED FOX SCAT SAMPLES	5
FIGURE 2.6. FIRST STEP OF FECAL FLOTATION PROCESS	7
FIGURE 2.7. FECAL FLOTATION TEST TUBES	7
FIGURE 2.8. MAP: LOCATIONS OF CASCADE RED FOX SCAT 2016	3
FIGURE 2.9. MAP: LOCATIONS OF CASCADE RED FOX SCAT 2017	9
FIGURE 2.10. MAP: LOCATIONS OF COYOTE SCAT 2017	)
FIGURE 2.11. MAP: LOCATIONS OF CASCADE RED FOX AND COYOTE SCAT 2016 AND 2017	, 1

# LIST OF FIGURES (continued)

FIGURE 2.12. MAP: LOCATIONS OF CASCADE RED FOX SCAT POSITIVE FOR HELMINTH INFECTION 2016.	82
FIGURE 2.13. MAP: LOCATIONS OF COYOTE SCAT POSITIVE FOR HELMINTH INFECTION 2017	83
FIGURE 2.14. MAP: LOCATIONS OF CASCADE RED FOX SCAT POSITIVE FOR HELMINTH INFECTION 2017	84
FIGURE 2.15. MAP: LOCATIONS OF CASCADE RED FOX SCAT POSITIVE FOR HELMINTH INFECTION NEAR PARADISE 2017	85

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 2.1. SCORING SYSTEM FOR DETERMINING PARASITE LOAD DURING MICROSCOPIC	
FECAL ANALYSIS	72
TABLE 2.2. NUMBER OF POSITIVE SAMPLES AND PREVALENCE OF HELMINTHS FOUND IN	
FECES COLLECTED IN MOUNT RAINIER NATIONAL PARK	72

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to begin by thanking my thesis reader and advisor, Tara Chestnut for first providing me with this thesis topic and trusting that I would do it justice. I'm glad I mentioned to her that I needed a thesis topic, because it enabled me to combine my love for wildlife conservation, disease ecology, and veterinary medicine. I had no prior knowledge of Cascade red fox, but now I feel honored to be a part of the Cascade red fox team! I am lucky to have learned from Tara and to be her first thesis student. Many doors have opened as a result of our meeting back in Disease Ecology class and I am extremely grateful for that experience. I appreciate her support, guidance, and high expectations that challenged me to be a better scientist and writer. I'd also like to thank everyone at Mount Rainier National Park who provided any sort of assistance during this process: Specifically Brooke Childrey for letting me take over her space with fox poop, Josh in the greenhouses for allowing me to stink up one of your greenhouses with fox poop, and Darin Swinney for providing the GIS data. Many thanks to everyone who was a part of the mesocarnivore survey team over the past couple of years-without your hard work, I would have no data. An additional thank you to everyone at Mount Rainier involved with keeping the beautiful Cascade red fox alive and safe!

Thank you to both Jocelyn Akins with Cascade Carnivore Project and Keith Aubry for paving the way with amazing Cascade red fox research. I am also extremely grateful for the review of my thesis and manuscript.

Thank you to all of the Evergreen MES faculty that I had the pleasure of learning from over the past two years. The decision to go back to school after 14 years since receiving my Bachelor's was quite daunting, but you all made this experience worth it.

Thank you to the world's best MES cohort! I seriously could not have done this without you guys and without 'late night seminar'. I've made some pretty amazing friends that I know will last a lifetime. You are all so inspiring! A special thanks to: Averi for always being willing to edit and for pretty much anything I needed help on, Leslie for your GIS expertise and for being my teammate on Team MORA, Heather for the good laughs (e.g. "Monkey Town"), and Tyler for thesis advice. To all my ladies I've had the pleasure of working with on projects: Jessica, Elyse, and Amanda. Cheers to anyone in my cohort who I didn't specifically mention, because each one of you played some sort of role in my success in this program.

And finally, none of this would have been possible without the unwavering love and support of my awesome family and friends. I love you all! I am full of so much gratitude for my dad, Jerry, for everything from instilling in me a love for animals to being my rock during some very trying times. You never once stopped believing that I could and

should make this chapter in my life happen. A huge thank you to my brother and sisterin-law, Justin and Nanna, for being a couple of my biggest cheerleaders and for always letting me know how proud you are of me. Thank you to my aunts, uncles, cousins, and extended family-we all know there are WAY too many of you for me to list, but you know who you are! To my aunt Ruthy, who has graciously filled the mother role for the past 15 years-thank you for always checking in on me, sending me notes of encouragement, and for your positivity and joy. Thank you to my godparents, Rob and Sylvia, who have always gone above and beyond with love and support, no matter what. Thank you to Rita for your love and giving nature...and for your endless supply of pie! Thank you to all my friends who believed in me, even if you thought I was a little crazy. I am also extremely grateful for my boyfriend and best friend, Manny, who has been a huge support and source of energy for getting me through the thesis process. Thank you for all your love, encouragement, and for being my personal chef this past year! And last but definitely not least, the biggest thank you to my best buddy, Grayson, the most awesome kid any mom could ask for! You are my source of motivation and the reason I chose to go back to school and pursue my passion. Never once did you complain about the time I had to spend away from you, the times I dragged you along to school or the library, the times you helped with fox poop surveying, nor the many, many hours I was glued to my computer. I hope that I was able to provide some sort of example on how never to give up. Thank you for all the times you just knew I needed a hug and a little extra love. You are my light!

### DEDICATION

To my late mother, Neo, who often said, "You can be whatever you want...it's up to you". Thank you for always pushing me to set goals and to go after my dreams.

## **CHAPTER 1**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Globally, biodiversity is diminishing and many species are facing imminent extinction (Lynch 1996; Lacy 1997; Aguirre and Tabor 2008). Of the more than 60,000 described vertebrate species worldwide, nearly one-fifth are threatened with extinction (Hoffman et al. 2010; Hoffman et al. 2018). Among these threatened species are carnivores. In North America alone, carnivores are experiencing a decline in abundance and contraction of range (Laliberte and Ripple 2004) as a result of direct or indirect consequences from human activities (Aguirre and Tabor 2008). Anthropogenic impacts, such as habitat destruction and fragmentation, pollution, globalization, and effects from climate change, can have independent, synergistic, additive, or antagonistic effects that contribute to degradation of the environment and loss of biodiversity (Pimm et al. 1995; Aguirre and Tabor 2008; Darling et al. 2009; Craig et al. 2017). Likely in response to a combination of environmental alterations, diseases and parasitism in wildlife have increased in recent decades, with disease transmission patterns changing among both human and animal populations (Dazsak et al. 2000; Aguirre and Tabor 2008; Aguirre 2009; Hollings et al. 2013; Weinstein and Lafferty 2015).

An increase of wildlife disease poses a challenge to endangered species conservation (Aguirre 2009; Pedersen et al. 2007; Smith et al. 2009). Species with small numbers of individuals are especially vulnerable to further population decline as a result of stochastic events such as disease outbreaks (Dazsak et al. 2000). Additionally, a loss of genetic variation is occurring among small wildlife populations due to genetic drift and inbreeding as a result of experiencing the aforementioned ecosystem threats (Lacy 1993; Lacy 1997). Lower genetic variation can reduce an animal's immune system fitness and increase susceptibility to parasites and pathogens that may lead to increased morbidity or mortality (Lynch 1996).

One such species that is particularly vulnerable to disease and extirpation because of their small population and fragmented habitat is the mesocarnivore, Cascade red fox (*Vulpes vulpes cascadensis*; Akins 2017). The Cascade red fox (Figure 1.1) is endemic to the Cascade mountain range in Washington State at high elevations of alpine and subalpine habitats (Aubry 1983). Although Cascade red foxes once had a range that covered the entire Cascade Range in Washington and southern British Columbia, this subspecies is primarily found in the southern Cascades of Washington within Mount Rainier National Park (MORA; Figure 1.2) and parts of the Gifford Pinchot National Forest (Jenkins et al. 2014; Akins 2017). While little is known about Cascade red fox population abundance and distribution, through surveys previously conducted in MORA, areas in Mt. Baker-Snoqualmie National Forest, and areas in the Gifford Pinchot National Forest (Figure 1.3), researchers have determined that this species is rare (Aubry 1983; Jenkins et al. 2014; Akins et al. 2018).

## The Red Fox

The wild canid species, red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) is one of the most common and widely distributed terrestrial carnivores in the world (Voight 1987; Larivière and Pasitschniak-Arts 1996; Kamler and Ballard 2002; Statham et al. 2012). Indigenous red foxes of the western United States inhabit upper montane elevations and include the Cascade red fox (*Vulpes vulpes cascadensis*), the Sierra Nevada red fox (*Vulpes vulpes* 

*nectar*), and the Rocky Mountain red fox (*Vulpes vulpes macroura*) (Aubry et al. 2009). A fourth native red fox subspecies, the Sacramento Valley red fox (*Vulpes vulpes patwin*) occurs in the lowlands of California (Sacks et al. 2010). These native red fox subspecies are genetically, morphologically, and ecologically distinct from nonnative red foxes (Aubry 1983; Aubry et al. 2009). The native montane red foxes are restricted to high elevations because of their adaptation to cold climates (Sacks et al. 2010). Based on historical and archeological records, these fox subspecies are descendants of red foxes that occupied areas south of the Wisconsin glaciers during the Pleistocene, where they likely became adapted to cold temperatures. Following the glacial retreat, the foxes moved into high elevations of the mountains with colder conditions, similar to temperatures during the glacial period (Aubry 1983).

While both native and nonnative red foxes are present throughout North America, the majority of the studies have been conducted on nonnative foxes because of their economic value as a furbearer (Aubry 1983). Originating from Europe, nonnative foxes were first introduced to the eastern United States in the 1700s, eventually expanding to the West in the 1900s through migration, introduction to the area by humans, and establishment of fur farms (Churcher 1959; Aubry 1983; Statham et al. 2012). In the Pacific Northwest, these red foxes live in lowland habitats and to date, there is no evidence of mixing between the introduced lowland and native montane populations (Aubry 1983; Akins et al. 2018).

#### Cascade Red Fox

The Cascade red fox is endemic to the Cascade mountain range in Washington State at high elevations of upper montane forests, alpine meadows, and subalpine parkland habitats (Aubry 1983). This subspecies relies on these specialized habitats for reproduction and foraging for a variety rodents and lagomorphs (Aubry 1983). Cascade red fox lives mainly at elevations above 1,500m as first reported in 1927 (Taylor and Shaw 1927); Akins (2017) confirmed that while the foxes can range at elevations of around 1,000m to 3,200m, they are most likely found at elevations between 1,500m to 2,700m.

More than 35 years ago the Cascade red fox population was reported to be in decline with a threat of extinction (Aubry 1983) and this trend appears to have continued (Akins 2017). Based on genetic analyses of Cascade red fox scat collected from the southern Cascade Range, the current genetic effective population size, or the number of breeding individuals, is estimated to be 16 (Akins et al. 2018). The small genetic effective size of the Cascade red fox population is indicative that genetic diversity may decrease over time as a result of inbreeding (Akins et al. 2018).

It is unknown whether or not the entire population has suffered a recent serious decline or if habitat fragmentation has separated Cascade red fox subpopulations along the entire Cascade Range, resulting in low detectability and genetic isolation (Akins 2017). Currently, the genetic connectivity between populations in the southern Cascades appears to be intact, however, timber harvest and road construction could lead to additional habitat fragmentation isolating the populations to montane 'islands' (Akins et al. 2018). As such, the Cascade red fox is a candidate for listing as an endangered species

in Washington State, a United States Forest Service (USFS) Regional Forester's Sensitive Species, and a Species of Greatest Conservation Need on the Washington State Wildlife Action Plan (Jenkins et al. 2014; Akins et al. 2018). Additionally, it is considered "Critically Imperiled" by NatureServe (NatureServe 2017).

While the historic causes for Cascade red fox population decline are unknown, initial decline is likely attributed to the historically common practices of fur-trapping and poisoning of carnivores (Aubry 1983). More recently, the population has likely suffered as a result of anthropogenic effects such as habitat destruction, habitat fragmentation, and climate change (Akins 2017). Not only can climate change alter Cascade red fox habitat (Hansen et al. 2014), but it can also affect prey species that rely on the features of a subalpine meadow habitat (Akins 2017). The Cascade red fox requires a specialized ecosystem for survival, therefore, landscape alterations of these upper montane elevations may be detrimental to the population.

A vital component of wildlife conservation is recognizing species that may serve as indicators of ecological health. Many wild canid species fit the role of sentinel species because of their threatened or endangered status, specialized habitat requirements, and sensitivity to environmental perturbations (Aguirre 2009). Parasite monitoring in wild canids can provide insight to the state of health of the environment as well as indicate which species are most affected.

Despite their rarity, these foxes are sighted in developed areas of MORA, such as Paradise, because of food-conditioning behaviors and habituation that have occurred across several generations (Reese 2007; Jenkins et al. 2014). With close proximity to humans and increased exposure to vehicular traffic, the habituated foxes are in danger of

being struck and killed by vehicles. Additionally, they run a higher risk of acquiring diseases from domestic dogs that may be traveling with their owners. Wild canid-domestic dog interactions may also increase the likelihood of disease transmission in domestic dogs.

Anthropogenic landscape alterations may also facilitate the encroachment of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) into Cascade red fox habitat (Jenkins et al. 2014; Akins 2017). Historically confined to low elevations of the Great Plains, coyotes experienced a range expansion likely resulting from land use changes and the eradication of the gray wolf in the west during the early 1900s (Gompper 2002). Known to be dominant competitors as well as predators of foxes (Sargeant and Allen 1989; Levi and Wilmers 2012), coyotes are potential carriers of canine parasites and pathogens (Gompper et al. 2003; Bridger et al. 2009; Liccioloi et al. 2012; Redman et al. 2016). The likelihood for parasite spillover from coyotes into Cascade red fox populations increases with potential coyote range expansion and population growth (Telfer and Bown 2012; Weinstein and Lafferty 2015). Further, with isolation at high elevations, Cascade red fox is at risk for exposure to novel pathogens that may be the result of coyote association.

Wildlife species that require specialized ecosystems are more vulnerable to range contraction and population loss than species that have general habitat requirements or can easily adapt and expand their range in response to anthropogenic alterations (Parmesan 2006). Range expansion of nonnative, lowland red foxes are another concern because of the introduction of invasive parasites (Telfer and Bown 2012; Weinstein and Lafferty 2015), prey competition, and the possibility of hybridization with Cascade red fox (Aubry 1983; Kamler and Ballard 2002; Statham et al. 2012). While nonnative introgression does

not appear to have occurred for Cascade red fox in southern Washington because of landscape barriers (Aubry 1984), evidence suggests that future concern is warranted as the habitat alterations continue (Akins 2017). Unlike the west side of the Cascades, the landscape on the east side does not feature a natural buffer zone of uninhabited forests, thus introgression is most plausible in this area of the Cascade red fox range (Aubry 1984). To gain further insight into what may cause future Cascade red fox population decline requires an understanding of the complex features of parasitism. Addressing the potential negative effects that parasitism can have on a threatened wildlife population is necessary for successful management and conservation.

#### Parasites

Parasites are ubiquitous in all living systems, living on (ectoparasites) or in (endoparasites) another organism, or host, at its expense (Krull 1969; Taylor et al. 2016). Parasites generally cause harm to their hosts, however, the severity can range from a reduction of body condition to debilitating fatal disease (Taylor et al. 2016). The term parasite refers to both microparasites (e.g., bacteria, viruses, fungi) and macroparasites (e.g., arthropods, helminths) (Hatcher et al. 2012). All parasites require at least one host to complete their life cycles, while some parasites use multiple hosts (Taylor et al. 2016). A definitive host is one in which the final stage of development takes place, with the parasite reaching adulthood or sexually maturity (Krull 1969; Taylor et al. 2016). Parasites requiring more than a definitive host, will also have one or more intermediate hosts in order to develop into consecutive stages (Krull 1969; Taylor et al. 2016). Some intermediate hosts can also act as vectors (e.g., mosquitoes, ticks), spreading pathogenic parasites from host to host (Taylor et al. 2016). Paratenic hosts are intermediate hosts that only serve as a transport to the definitive host; further parasitic development does not occur in these hosts (Taylor et al. 2016). While there is still a need for greater understanding of complex parasite-host interactions, it is clear that parasites serve important roles on long-term wildlife population dynamics (Daszak et al. 2000).

### Helminths

Helminths are parasitic worms that can affect plants, animals, and humans (Taylor et al. 2016). Helminths of veterinary concern consist of two major phyla. Nematode worms, or roundworms, make up one of the phylum of helminths (Castro 1996; Ávila and Isaac 2013). The second phylum, Platyhelminths, or flat worms, consist of cestodes (tapeworms), and trematodes (flukes; Castro 1996; Ávila and Isaac 2013). While helminths in animals can affect a variety of organs, for the purpose of this study, I will focus on helminths that affect the gastrointestinal (GI) system of canids (e.g., domestic dogs, coyotes, foxes, wolves). Some of these helminths are also zoonotic in nature (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Tackmann et al. 2001; Lee et al. 2010; Otranto et al. 2015; Ma et al. 2018). The life-cycle of helminths includes egg, larval, and adult stages (Castro 1996). Helminth eggs have environmentally resistant walls in order to withstand a wide variety of climatic conditions while developing. Infection of helminths can occur through transplacental, transcutaneous, or transmammary transmission, or by ingestion of a paratenic host, intermediate host, infective egg, or infective larvae (Bowman and Nelson 2014).

Diagnosing parasite infection in domestic animals commonly involves fecal analysis using a centrifugation fecal flotation method (Foreyt 2001; Dryden et al. 2005). In order to float and recover helminth eggs, the fecal flotation solution must have a higher specific gravity than the eggs (Dryden et al. 2005). Common solutions used in fecal flotations include sugar, magnesium sulfate, sodium chloride, and sodium nitrate (Dryden et al. 2005). For wild carnivores, parasitological surveys often rely on gross examination of intestinal material during necropsy (Richards et al. 1995; Wolfe et al. 2001; Saeed et al. 2006; Liccioli et al. 2012). However, fecal flotation is a more conservative approach to diagnosing intestinal parasites, especially for endangered species or when animal carcasses are not readily available (Liccioli et al. 2012). While fecal flotations may present limitations (e.g., eggs may not readily float) in accurately diagnosing certain helminth species, this method can provide important baseline information on the prevalence of parasitism. Fecal flotation using sugar solution is the most accurate diagnostic tool for nematodes over other helminths because their eggs easily float to the surface (Dryden et al. 2005).

Helminth infection is common in wild canids and environmental contamination with infective helminth stages is widespread (Bowman and Nelson 2014). Red foxes are known to carry a wide variety of helminths, including several of zoonotic significance (Dybing 2013). Further, changes in climatic events in terms of frequency and severity may increase the geographical range of parasites as well as affect the prevalence of infection in hosts (Morgan and Wall 2009; Polley and Thompson 2009). With climate change comes an increasing importance to understand parasite infection and impacts of disease. Increased prevalence of parasitism is especially concerning for the fitness of threatened or endangered species and their long-term population dynamics.

### Nematodes

Of the 561 species of nematodes that inhabit vertebrates (Anderson 1992), there are three main types of gastrointestinal worms common among canids in the Northwest including ascarids (*Toxocara canis, Toxascaris leonina*), hookworms (*Ancylostoma caninum, Uncinaria stenocephala*), and whipworms (*Trichuris vulpis*) (Bowman and Nelson 2014; Otranto 2015). The basic life cycle for nematodes includes a series of four moults in which the larvae shed its cuticle (Taylor et al. 2016). The larval stages are indicated as L1, L2, L3, L4, and the immature adult worm as L5. Nematodes either undergo a direct life cycle (which is most common) where the infective stage directly enters its final and definitive host through ingestion or skin penetration or an indirect life cycle that requires an intermediate host for part of its development (Taylor et al. 2016; Figure 1.4).

#### Ascarids

From the order Ascaridida, and superfamily Ascaridoidea, canids are commonly infected with *Toxocara canis* and *Toxascaris leonina*. On rare occasions they can be infected with the cat roundworm, *Toxocara cati*, or the raccoon roundworm, *Baylisascaris procynosis* (Anderson 1992; Bowman and Nelson 2014).

### Toxocara canis

*Toxocara canis* (Figure 1.5) is a ubiquitous nematode common among domestic and wild canids of zoonotic importance (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Schnieder et al. 2011). *T. canis* requires its definitive canid host to complete its life cycle, however, humans can act as paratenic hosts with the parasite causing disease (Anderson 1992; Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Jenkins et al. 2011; Ávila and Isaac 2013; Bowman and Nelson 2014). Among foxes worldwide, the reported prevalence of *T. canis* infection is between 56% and 80% depending on the population examined (Richards et al. 1995; Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Saeed et al. 2006).

The life cycle of *T. canis* (Figure 1.6) is complex with four possible modes of infection (Taylor et al. 2016). The basic mode of transmission is through ingestion of embryonated eggs containing the infective L3 (Bruňaská et al. 1995; Nemzek et al. 2015; Taylor et al. 2016). Another route of infection is through ingestion of paratenic hosts (e.g., rodents, birds; Schnieder et al. 2011). In pups, infection occurs through transplacental or transmammary transmission (Schnieder et al. 2011; Taylor et al. 2016). The life cycle of *T. canis* within the host differs depending on the age of the animal (Schnieder et al. 2011). For canids older than six months, direct ingestion of embryonated eggs will result with the larvae invading the intestinal wall (Schnieder et al. 2011). A small percentage of the larvae will undergo tracheal migration, where the larvae will moult, get swallowed, and then develop into adult worms in the small intestine (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Ávila and Isaac 2013). However, the majority of the larvae will continue to travel to the lungs and enter the pulmonary veins to the heart to be circulated out into the somatic tissues (Anderson 1992; Ávila and Isaac 2013). Once they

reach the tissues, the larvae will be trapped and encysted through an inflammatory response (Ávila and Isaac 2013), where they will remain dormant unless reactivated during pregnancy (Anderson 1992; Taylor et al. 2016).

Transplacental transmission is the primary route of infection in pups occurring when the larvae pass from the mother to the liver of the developing fetuses, where the larvae remain until birth (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Schnieder et al. 2011; Taylor et al. 2016). Following birth, the larvae migrate to the lungs then get coughed up and swallowed where they will develop into adult worms in the small intestine. Newborn pups can also become infected through ingestion of larvae through their mother's milk when nursing (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Schnieder et al. 2011). Transplacental transmission is a highly effective mode of infection for newborn pups; virtually all pups will be infected with *T. canis* if the mother is also infected (Ávila and Isaac, 2013). In juvenile canids (less than three months), direct ingestion of embryonated eggs will result in tracheal migration and ultimately adult worm development in the small intestine (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000).

Transmission of *T. canis* via paratenic hosts results in the larvae developing into adults within the small intestine and does not involve tracheal or somatic migration (Schnieder et al. 2011). Environmental contamination takes place when canids infested with adult intestinal worms shed unembryonated eggs in their feces (Schnieder et al. 2011). Up to 200,000 eggs can be shed per day from one animal (Ávila and Isaac 2013). Eggs incubate in the soil and typically develop into the infective L3 within 2-6 weeks (Anderson 1992; Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Otranto et al. 2015). Clinical signs of disease from infection of *T. canis* are mostly seen in young pups. Symptoms can include diarrhea, failure to gain weight or grow, vomiting, poor haircoat, a pot-bellied appearance, abdominal discomfort, and reduced immune fitness (Lee et al. 2010; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Nemzek et al. 2015; Reinemeyer 2016). Pups with heavy worm burdens can also experience intestinal obstruction (Bowman and Nelson 2014) or intussusception (sliding of the intestine within itself; Nemzek et al. 2015). In other severe cases, neonatal pups may succumb to death due to pneumonia caused by large numbers of larvae migrating to the lungs (Lee et al. 2010; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Nemzek et al. 2015; Reinemeyer 2016; Taylor et al. 2016). Signs of pulmonary damage from migrating larvae include coughing, increased respiratory rate, and frothy nasal discharge (Taylor et al. 2016). Coinfection with other macroparasites and/or microparasites, stress, or malnutrition can also further complicate clinical disease.

With its ability to migrate in tissues, *T. canis* is thus a significant zoonotic agent of a variety of toxocariasis syndromes (Lee et al. 2010; Ma et al. 2018). Humans can become an accidental host when infective eggs are ingested from contaminated soil, contaminated raw vegetables, or from eating raw parts of paratenic hosts (e.g., chicken, pig, cow; Lee et al. 2010). In most cases, toxocariasis can remain asymptomatic, however, the disease can present as visceral larva migrans (VLM), ocular larva migrans (OLM), neural toxocariasis, or covert toxocariasis (mild non-specific infection) (Lee et al. 2010; Ma et al. 2018). Because humans are a dead-end host, the larvae cannot complete their life cycle and will instead migrate through various organs and tissues, resulting in an inflammatory immune response (Ma et al. 2018). Clinical symptoms, such as fever, headaches, coughing, skin conditions, and pain can occur (Ma et al. 2018). Both

VLM and OLM are more common in children likely because of their increased exposure to contaminated soil (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Ma et al. 2018). Visual impairment is likely in the cases of OLM, because a dead worm in the eye can elicit an inflammatory response and induce granulomatous retinal lesions (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Ma et al. 2018). Blindness is also possible. In rare cases, *T. canis* larvae can also migrate into the central nervous system of adults, causing neurotoxocarisis, which may lead to meningitis, encephalitis, or produce symptoms of headache and fever (Ma et al. 2018).

#### Toxascaris leonina

The definitive hosts for *Toxascaris leonina* (Figure 1.7) include species of canids (e.g., dogs, foxes, wolves) and felids (e.g., cats, jaguars, leopards, lynx) throughout most parts of the world. (Anderson 1992; Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000). Infection of *T. leonina* in canids is similar to that of *T. canis* except that the larvae do not migrate transplacentally nor transmammary (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000). Transmission of *T. leonina* takes place from ingestion of infective eggs containing infective second-stage larvae or paratenic hosts with encysted L3 in their tissues (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Taylor et al. 2016). Following ingestion of embryonated eggs (Figure 1.8), the larvae will penetrate the wall of the small intestine, where they will continue to develop (Anderson 1992; Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000). The larvae will to mature into adult worms within the intestinal wall where they can remain for seven weeks and up to one year (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000). In the environment, *T. leonina* eggs develop

within one week as compared to *T. canis* eggs which take up to four weeks (Taylor et al. 2016).

Clinical disease symptoms in juveniles are similar to *T. canis* infection ranging from unthriftiness to diarrhea, but tend to be milder (Taylor et al. 2016). Infection of *T. leonina* is often accompanied with *T. canis* infection. *T. leonina* is a potential zoonotic parasite, but there has been far less research on its ability to cause disease in humans (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000).

### Hookworms

The second most common nematode taxa among carnivores are collectively called hookworms and belong to the family Ancylostomatidae of the order Strongylida (Anderson 1992). Hookworms found in canids of the northern hemisphere include the species *Ancylostoma caninum* (Figure 1.10) and *Uncinaria stenocephala* (Anderson 1992; Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Otranto et al. 2015). Hookworms earned their name because they "hook" their buccal capsules (mouthparts) to the intestinal mucosa of their hosts (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Lefkaditis 2001; Otranto et al. 2015). Adult hookworms feed on blood from the capillaries they rupture when they penetrate the mucosa (Lefkaditis 2001).

Embryonated hookworm eggs are passed to the environment through the feces of hosts (Figure 1.9). An infected canid can pass millions of eggs in its feces daily for several weeks (Taylor et al. 2016). Under suitable moisture and temperature conditions (e.g., 23-33 degrees C), L1s will emerge from the eggs and feed on bacteria within the soil (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000). Within two days they will molt into L2s and

four to five days later will molt into the infective L3 stage (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Lefkaditis 2001; Otranto et al. 2015). Transmission of infective L3s to their canine host is either through ingestion of contaminated soil, paratenic host, or through cutaneous penetration (*A. caninum* only; Anderson 1992; Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Lefkaditis 2001; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Nemzek et al. 2015). Oral transmission of infective larvae of *U. stenocephala* and *A. caninum* enter the small intestine where they develop into adults (Lefkaditis 2001; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Nemzek et al. 2014; Nemzek et al. 2015).

Infection of *A. caninum* through penetration of the host's skin results in the larvae entering the circulatory system, where they are carried through the blood vessels, eventually reaching the lungs (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Lefkaditis 2001). In the lungs, the L3s will develop into L4s and then undergo tracheal migration to be swallowed and end up in the small intestine of the host to develop into adult worms (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Lefkaditis 2001; Taylor et al. 2016). Some of the third-stage larvae from the lungs will also migrate into the host's somatic tissues, including mammary glands in females, where they will arrest and lie dormant (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Lefkaditis 2001). Pregnancy will reactivate the larvae from the infected mother's skeletal tissues and pass on to nursing pups through milk (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Lefkaditis 2001; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Otranto et al. 2015; Taylor et al. 2016).

Pathogenicity of hookworms varies by the parasite species (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000). For example, *U. stenocephala* pathogenicity is low, with symptoms of mild diarrhea and low-grade anemia usually only occurring in cases of heavy worm burden in young canids (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Taylor et al. 2016). Whereas

in A. caninum infection, pathogenicity is one of the highest of all canine parasites (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000). The main consequence of infection of A. caninum is anemia due to tissue damage and blood loss from the feeding parasites (Nemzek et al. 2015; Taylor et al. 2016). In pups with transmammary infection, blood loss can be so significant that it can lead to death as early as 2-3 weeks of age (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Taylor et al. 2016). Clinical signs in infected pups include ill thrift, anorexia, weight loss, stunted growth, bloody diarrhea, dehydration, and poor haircoat (Bowman and Nelson 2014; Taylor et al. 2016; Seguel and Gottdenker 2017). Disruption of the intestinal mucosa from lesions created by feeding hookworms can cause inflammation and inhibit proper nutrient absorption (Seguel and Gottdenker 2017). Hemorrhagic enteritis and anemia was observed in covote neonates when experimentally inoculated with A. caninum (Radomski 1989). Additionally, A. caninum penetration of the skin of the host's feet can cause skin infections with clinical symptoms of moist eczema, pruritus, swelling, and ulceration (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Taylor et al. 2016). Larval migration through the lungs can result in pneumonia and respiratory disease (Bowman and Nelson 2014; Taylor et al. 2016). In combination with anemia, these conditions can be debilitating, especially in young canids (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Bowman and Nelson 2014). Coyote neonates inoculated with heavy burdens of A. caninum larvae (>500 larvae/kg), were observed with lung tissue damage, anemia, and subsequent death (Radomski 1989).

With its ability to penetrate the skin, *A. caninum* can also pose as a zoonotic threat to humans. Cutaneous larval migrans (CLM), a result of skin penetration, is a condition in which the hookworm larvae migrate through top layers of the skin over several weeks

causing skin eruptions and itching (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000). Eventually the larvae will die and get reabsorbed by the host (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000).

Throughout Europe, red foxes are known to be significant reservoirs of *U. stenocephala*. A study in Denmark by Willingham et al. (1996), reported prevalence of *U. stenocephala* infection in red foxes was 86%. In Europe, prevalence of hookworm infection in red foxes is between 38% and 78% depending on the population studied (Criado-Fornelio et al. 2000; Reperant et al. 2007; Stuart et al. 2013). *A. caninum* infection in endangered red wolves (*Canis rufus*) and sympatric coyotes in southeastern United States was detected in 94% of the individuals studied; with 32% prevalence of *U. stenocephala* infection (Brzeski et al. 2015).

#### Whipworms

*Trichuris vulpis* (Order: Enoplida, Family: Trichuridae) is a globally distributed whipworm (Figure 1.10) inhabiting the large intestine of domestic and wild canids (Blagburn 2008). Whipworm eggs enter the environment by passing through the feces of their host. The prepatent period (period of time from infection until mature adult parasites are producing eggs) is nearly three months, and thereafter, adult female whipworms only produce eggs intermittently (Blagburn 2008). Thus, diagnosis can be difficult because an animal may not shed eggs continuously, even while infected. *T. vulpis* eggs are extremely environmentally resistant and can remain viable in the soil for up to 7 years (Blagburn 2008). Under suitable conditions, the eggs will become infective by embryonating to L1 in the soil within 3-8 weeks (Traversa 2011; Taylor et al. 2016). Transmission is via oral route; the infective eggs will inhabit the intestinal glands to molt and eventually make

their way into the large intestine to develop into adults (Traversa 2011; Nemzek et al. 2015). Pathogenicity of whipworms is variable, with some infected animals living asymptomatically, while others will suffer ill effects of high parasite burden. Adult whipworms feed on blood and other fluids while tunneling through the mucosa of the large intestine (Traversa 2011). Their action of feeding can cause inflammation and tissue damage of the cecum and colon. Pups are particularly vulnerable to suffering ill effects of *T. vulpis* infection and may exhibit reduced growth rate (Traversa 2011; Nemzek et al. 2015). Other clinical symptoms may include bloody and mucousy diarrhea, anemia, dehydration, and weight loss, and in severe cases could lead to death (Traversa 2011; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Nemzek et al. 2015). Whipworm infection can also decrease the host's ability to convert nutrients properly, which can reduce their immune function and make them more susceptible to acquiring secondary infections (Traversa 2011).

#### Cestodes

Common cestodes (tapeworms) found in wild canids include *Diplydium caninum* (Figure 1.11), *Taenia* spp., *Mesocestiodes* spp., and *Echinococcus* spp. (Little 2007; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Nemzek et al. 2015). All tapeworms have complex life cycles that require one or more intermediate hosts (e.g., fleas, lice, rodents) in order to transmit to carnivore definitive hosts (Little 2007; Nemzek et al. 2015; Taylor et al. 2016). Intermediate hosts become infected through ingestion of a tapeworm egg. Once the egg reaches the small intestine, larvae will hatch out of the egg, burrow into the intestinal wall, migrate to the liver via the blood, and then develop larval cysts in the tissues (Little 2007). Canids can become infected with tapeworms when they ingest the larval cysts of

intermediate hosts. Within the host's small intestine, proglottids (segments) of the tapeworms are formed. Gravid proglottids contain eggs, which are then spilled out into the lumen of the intestine that will be later passed out in the feces (Little 2007). The majority of tapeworm infections in canids are asymptomatic, however, intestinal blockage may occur in pups with heavy worm burdens (Bowman and Nelson 2014).

Diagnosing tapeworm infection through fecal flotation alone can be challenging and unreliable because proglottids are not consistently shed nor are they uniformly distributed in fecal material (Little 2007; Liccioli et al. 2012; Bowman and Nelson 2014). Furthermore, to diagnose tapeworm infection through fecal flotation, it is necessary for proglottids to release their eggs in order for them to float.

#### Echinococcus multilocaris

*E. multilocaris* is commonly referred to as the fox tapeworm, because it is often found in red foxes in Europe, North America, and Asia (König and Romig 2010). *E. multilocaris* is a zoonotic parasite that may cause alveolar echinococcosis (AE) in humans (Tackmann et al. 2001; König and Romig 2010; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Massolo et al. 2014; Otranto et al 2015). AE has serious medical implications that requires intensive, lifelong medication (König and Romig 2010; Otranto et al. 2015). There is limited research on *E. multilocaris* distribution, ecology, and epidemiology within North America (Massolo et al. 2014; Otranto et al. 2015). However, *E. multilocaris* appears to be expanding in range with increased prevalence of infection in wild canids across Europe, Canada, and the United States (Bowman and Nelson 2014; Massolo et al. 2014; Otranto et al. 2015; Taylor et al. 2016). Increased prevalence in wild canids will cause an increase in environmental contamination. Because of its high zoonotic potential, understanding the dynamics of *E. multilocaris* in wild canid populations is important for future prevention of transmission to domestic dogs and humans.

#### Trematodes

Commonly called flukes, trematodes have been detected in wild canids throughout the world, but to a lesser degree than nematodes and cestodes (Custer and Pence 1981; Aubry 1983; Dibble et al. 1983; Richards et al. 1995; Wolfe et al. 2001). Flukes in the northwest include species of Alaria and Nanophyetus salmincola (Bowman and Nelson 2014). The life cycle of flukes is complex, requiring more than one intermediate host before infecting their definitive hosts via oral route. Infection of Alaria spp. usually does not produce clinical disease, however, infection of *N. salmincola* in canids can cause illness commonly referred to as salmon poisoning disease, with symptoms of vomiting, diarrhea, swollen lymph nodes, and fever (Bowman and Nelson 2014). N. salmincola itself is virtually harmless, however, when the fluke is parasitized by the rickettsial organism, *Neorickettsia helminthoeca*, the result is extreme disease (Krull 1969; Taylor et al. 2016). Transmission of N. salmincola is through ingestion of metacercariae present in salmonid fish in the coastal Pacific Northwest (Bowman and Nelson 2014). Infection of *N. salmincola* has been detected in lowland red foxes in Washington State, however, given the location of salmonid prey, Cascade red fox is an unlikely candidate for contracting the rickettsial parasite (Aubry 1983).

#### Multiple Stressors on Immune Function

The combined effects of parasites and multiple stressors can have serious negative effects on the health of a variety of wildlife species (Lafferty and Kuris 1999; Marcogliese and Pietrock 2011; Cable et al. 2017). Parasites are ubiquitous and induce stress in hosts regardless if hosts are showing symptoms or not (Lafferty and Kuris 1999; Marcogliese and Pietrock 2011). Parasitism in conjunction with an additional stressor, be it natural or anthropogenic, may exacerbate the negative impact on animal health (Acevedo-Whitehouse and Duffus 2009). Alternatively, the opposite interaction of certain parasites decreasing may occur when associated with other stressors (Lafferty and Kuris 1999; Marcogliese et al. 2009; Marcogliese and Pietrock 2011). The primary focus for this paper is to evaluate the occurrence of parasites in a critically imperiled species who face a multitude of stressors. This information will allow managers to assess the potential risk parasites may have on Cascade red fox populations at Mount Rainier National Park so they can take management action to minimize negative health effects and mortality.

Stressors can be any type of abiotic or biotic event or stimuli that elicits stress in an organism. Natural stress factors include parasite infection, food availability, predation, UV radiation, salinity, population density, and temperature (Marcogliese and Pietrock 2011). However, environmental changes involving UV radiation, temperature, and salinity can also be an effect of anthropogenic climate change (Marcogliese and Pietrock 2011). Other anthropogenic stressors include habitat destruction, fragmentation, invasive species, and contaminants (Lafferty and Kuris 1999; Acevedo-Whitehouse and Duffus 2009; Cable et al. 2017). Multiple studies conclude that parasitism and other concurrent stressors can have more drastic effects on host health than just the presence of one stressor (Blaustein and Kiesecker 2002; Beldomenico et al. 2008; Marcogliese and Pietrock 2011). Animals under environmental stress may experience reduced immunity, thereby decreasing their ability to resist or tolerate parasite infection (Acevedo-Whitehouse and Duffus 2009). In turn, the added effect of parasitism may further jeopardize host condition that increases susceptibility to additional parasites or pathogens (Beldomenico and Begon 2009).

The majority of research on combined effects of multiple stressors has been conducted in laboratory, however, species in the wild have provided evidence that stressful conditions can enhance pathogenicity of parasites (Pedersen and Greives 2008; Christin et al. 2009; Gilbertson et al. 2003; Marcogliese et al. 2010; Marcogliese and Pietrock 2011). For example, a study on yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) examined from the St. Lawrence River, Quebec, Canada indicated that pathogenic effects of perch helminths increased in polluted sites. The perch with contaminant exposure experienced immunosuppression, limiting their tolerance to parasite infection (Marcogliese et al. 2010). Another example of increased pathogenicity of parasites is demonstrated in fish that have been contaminated by crude oil (Khan 1990). The toxicity of oil suppresses fish immune functions causing increased prevalence and intensity of ciliated protozoan parasites (Khan 1990) such as *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis* that cause the debilitating "white spot disease" (Petty and Francis-Floyd 2018). Further evidence of the negative impact of multiple stressors on parasite infection and disease is exemplified in many of the declining amphibian species around the world (Christin et al. 2009; Gilbertson et al. 2003; Blaustein et al. 2012).

In terms of an entire host population, the interaction of parasitism in combination with other stressors follows similar outcomes as seen in individual hosts; as an increase or decrease in pathogenicity (Lafferty and Kuris 1999; Acevedo-Whitehouse and Duffus 2009). This is an important complexity to understand when studying Cascade red fox. This population already experiences several stressors including, but not limited to, habitat fragmentation, low genetic effective size, small population, changes to winter food availability, and human interaction. Exposure to these abiotic or biotic stressors can compromise their defense mechanisms, and with the added effect of parasitism, Cascade red fox may be pushed further to the threat of population loss and consequently extirpation.

### Climate Change and Parasitism

Human-induced climate change is having negative effects on the planet's ecosystems, biodiversity, organism demography, and complex ecosystem processes (IPCC 2007). Features of climate change include increasing global temperatures, a shift in precipitation patterns, and an increase in severity and frequency of extreme weather conditions (Patz et al. 2000; Polley and Thompson 2009; Polley et al. 2010; Morley and Lewis 2014). These climatic changes are influencing parasite and host (intermediate and definitive) distribution, parasite life-cycle rates, parasite transmission, pathogenicity, disease prevalence, host-parasite dynamics, and host immunology (Polley and Thompson 2009; Polley et al. 2010; Jenkins et al. 2011; Blaustein et al. 2012). Moreover, there are gaps in knowledge regarding the effects of extreme temperature variations on thermal
stress of animal hosts and how this may influence host-parasite interactions (Morley and Lewis 2014).

Previous studies on the effect of climate change on zoonotic parasites and diseases transmitted via vector (e.g., mosquitoes, ticks) may provide a model-based scenario for predicting climate-based patterns of other types of parasitism prevalent in wildlife (Polley et al. 2010). For example, warming temperatures are increasing the abundance of ticks and altering their distribution patterns (Dantas-Torres et al. 2012; Estrada-Peña et al. 2012; Ostfeld and Bruner 2015). Increasing precipitation is another environmental condition that is playing a significant role in tick range expansion (Estrada-Peña et al. 2012; Ostfeld and Bruner 2015). Together, these features of climate change have created an ideal situation for tick survival. The temperate region of the northern hemisphere is becoming more favorable for ticks due to adequate moisture and warmer climate (Ostfeld and Bruner 2015). Increased distribution and abundance of tick populations are increasing the incidence of tick-borne diseases (e.g., Lyme disease, ehrlichiosis, anaplasmosis) in animals and humans (Dantas-Torres et al. 2012; Estrada-Peña et al. 2012; Ostfeld and Bruner 2015). Furthermore, range expansion of ticks to new areas carries the risk of introducing nonnative pathogens to naive hosts whose immune systems have not had prior exposure.

Parasites that expand in range along with their hosts can have detrimental effects in naïve hosts in these new locations, eliciting disease that isn't normally noticed (Telfer and Bown 2012). Regions that previously had unsuitable conditions to support a parasite and its host may now offer the ideal habitat. An increase in temperature in higher latitudes or higher altitudes may influence host migration routes as well as promote

introduction of nonnative species (Polley and Thompson 2009; Polley et al. 2010; Atehmengo and Nnagbo 2014).

The impact that climate change is having on the Canadian Arctic is one of the greatest in North America. In addition to increased temperatures, precipitation, and severe weather events, this region appears to have a higher incidence of helminth parasitism among individuals of indigenous communities than people of the developed areas of Canada (Jenkins et al. 2011). Over the past 60 years, this region has experienced a warming trend of 1.8-2.3°C that may be facilitating the northern movement of *T. canis* and other zoonotic parasites that were historically unable to become established (Jenkins et al. 2011). Similarly, *E. multilocaris* is expanding in range as well as its host preference (Polley and Thompson 2009; Jenkins et al. 2011). Further, increased precipitation and temperatures in the north will likely increase rodent intermediate hosts, consequently influencing *E. multilocaris* transmission (Jenkins et al. 2011). Wildlife species in the north that are adapted to cold environments, much like Cascade red fox, can be studied to help understand and predict the climate change influences on parasitism.

In the case for Cascade red fox, the potential for range expansion of coyotes to higher elevations could result in increased parasitism and consequent disease. Historically, coyotes have been absent from the mountains (Quinn 1997) due to their lack of adaptation to heavy snow (Perrine 2005). However, warming events that result in a decrease in annual montane snowfall and changes to snow pack could facilitate upward coyote movement (Akins 2017). While hard to predict given the complexities, an introduction of exotic parasites could have deleterious effects on Cascade red fox.

Warmer climate also has the potential to increase the rate that parasites develop and become infective (Blaustein et al. 2012; Atehmengo and Nnagbo 2014). Thus, increasing the likelihood that a host will have higher parasite burdens as well as an increase in the number of parasites available for transmission from the environment (Polley and Thompson 2009; Polley et al. 2010). Hosts with high parasite loads are more susceptible to developing clinical symptoms and possible co-infection of additional macroparasites and/or microparasites. Survival rates may increase for parasites that normally perish in cold climate (Polley et al. 2010). However, the opposite may occur for other parasites that have a lower heat tolerance (Jenkins et al. 2011; Morley and Lewis 2014). The effects of climate change on parasitism is difficult to predict due to the complex ecosystem-parasite-host dynamics. However, careful monitoring of host-parasite systems can provide insight to help guide mitigation and prevention of disease.

# **Coinfection Dynamics**

Concurrent infection of multiple parasite species commonly occurs in most wild animals. Coinfection can occur with multiple macroparasites (e.g., helminths, arthropods), multiple microparasites (e.g., viruses, bacteria, protozoa), or a combination of both. Coinfection of parasite species within a host can be simultaneous, or the presence of one parasite can cause host immunosuppression that facilitates subsequent parasite infection (Ezenwa et al. 2010; Bordes and Morand 2011; Ezenwa and Jolles 2011; Budischak et al. 2012; Vanmourin et al. 2015; Ezenwa 2016). Alternatively, coinfection interactions can also have inhibitory mechanisms that result in cross-immunity or resource competition between parasites (Bordes and Morand 2011; Ezenwa and Jolles

2011). Recent studies have documented the impact of helminth infection on a wildlife host's immune system, dynamics of coinfecting microparasites, and the progression and severity of disease (Ezenwa et al. 2010; Ezenwa and Jolles 2011; Budischak et al. 2012; Broughton 2017). Given the ubiquity of helminths among wild canids, it is paramount to understand intracellular microparasite coinfection, especially when managing a threatened or endangered species.

Helminths can impair a host's immune response to secondary microparasitic infection (Ezenwa et al. 2010; Bordes and Morand 2011; Ezenwa and Jolles 2011; Ezenwa 2016). When an animal is coinfected with helminths and microparasites, the immune system responds by activating T-helper cells type 1 (Th1) and type 2 (Th2) to the presence of each parasite respectively (Mosmann and Sad 1996). Th2 cells produce specific cytokines (e.g., Interleukin-4) that promote immune mechanisms to fight against helminths, while Th2 cells produce cytokines (e.g., interferon- $\gamma$ ) that promote effector mechanisms that target intracellular microparasites (Mosmann and Sad 1996). Both types of cytokines mutually inhibit one another simultaneously, thus an animal with prior helminth infection is more susceptible to acquiring secondary microparasitc infection (Ezenwa et al. 2010; Bordes and Morand 2011; Ezenwa and Jolles 2011; Vanmourin et al. 2015; Ezenwa 2016). Helminths can also stimulate a host's regulatory T cells (T<sub>REG</sub>) that will produce immunoregulatory cytokines that lead to suppression of Th1 and Th2 activity (Ezenwa et al. 2010; Ezenwa and Jolles 2011). Consequently, helminth coinfection can increase microparasite transmission, pathogenicity, and persistence of disease. Further, coinfection dynamics can depress recovery rates and increase diseaseinduced mortality (Ezenwa et al. 2010; Ezenwa and Jolles 2011).

Several studies have shown interactions between coinfecting parasites (Ezenwa et al. 2010; Ezenwa and Jolles 2011; Budischak et al. 2012; Broughton 2017). For instance, associations between gastrointestinal nematode infection and bovine tuberculosis (Mycobacterium bovis, TB) in free-ranging African buffalo (Syncerus caffer) at Hluhluwe-iMfolozi Park, South Africa demonstrated that nematode infection suppressed host Th1 response, increasing susceptibility and progression of TB infection (Ezenwa et al 2010). Further, African buffaloes with helminth-TB coinfection showed reduced body condition and accelerated mortality as compared to those who had a single infection (Ezenwa et al 2010). Nearly 73% of wild lions (Panthera leo) in Kruger National Park, South Africa, are infected with feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) and coinfected with gastrointestinal parasites and tick-borne hemoparasites (Broughton 2017). Immunosuppression as a result of FIV infection played a significant role in overall parasite species richness and abundance, consequently leading to further FIV disease progression. Another study showed three-week delay in vaccinia viral clearance was observed in mice who were coinfected with the trematode Schistosoma mansoni versus rapid viral clearance in mice infected with vaccinia alone (Actor et al. 1993). A breeding colony of Purple martins (Progne subis) coinfected with the hematozoan, Haemoproteus *prognei*, and an unidentified filarial nematode, although rare among the population (8%), resulted in mortality 90% of the time (Davidar and Morton 2006).

Wild canids worldwide are notorious for harboring a broad spectrum of concurrent infections of both endoparasites and ectoparasites (Dibble et al. 1983; Richards et al. 1995; Miller et al. 1998; Wolfe et al. 2001; Dalimi et al. 2006; Saeed et al. 2006; Figueiredo et al. 2016; Hermosilla et al. 2017). While most infected canids can live

without clinical symptoms, those with heavy burdens of parasites or those who experience additional stressors may be more susceptible to morbidity and mortality.

External stress from altered climatic conditions and habitat modification can increase the prevalence of coinfection in wildlife hosts. Additionally, physiological stressors, such as malnourishment and poor body condition, can increase susceptibility of acquiring coinfecting parasites as well as exacerbate the effects from coinfection (Vanmourin et al. 2015).

# Inbreeding Depression and Disease Susceptibility

Small and isolated wildlife populations often suffer from loss of genetic diversity as a result of genetic drift and inbreeding effects (Lacy 1997). Inbreeding leads to a reduction of individual heterozygosity and increased risk of fixed recessive or deleterious alleles within in the population (Charlesworth and Charlesworth 1987; Lynch 1996; Lacy 1997; Frankham 1998). Fragmented populations can experience restricted gene flow thus promoting a reduction of fitness components collectively termed inbreeding depression (Charlesworth and Charlesworth 1987; Templeton et al. 1990; Lynch 1996; Lacy 1997). Characteristics of inbreeding depression at an individual level include decreased fecundity, higher mortality, slower growth rates, high frequency of developmental defects, decreased adaptation to stressors, and lower immunocompetence (Lacy 1997). Small populations that experience loss of genetic variation have slower population growth and impaired ability to adapt to environmental change. Therefore, endangered species are extremely vulnerable to extinction from stochastic events (Lynch 1996; Lacy 1997; Frankham 1998; Keller and Waller 2002).

Genetic diversity in wildlife populations plays an essential role in immune capabilities including parasite and pathogen recognition and resistance (Smith et al. 2009). In particular, the most important genetic component of the vertebrate immune system involves a group of polymorphic genes that make up the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). MHC genes encode for proteins on the surface of cells and present them to T-lymphocytes to initiate an immune response to the presence of pathogens or parasites (Penn et al. 2002; Kurtz et al. 2004; Sommer 2005). Several studies have reported the importance of MHC heterozygosity in a variety of vertebrate species in regards to enhanced parasite recognition and ability to cope with parasite infection (Penn et al. 2002; Acevedo-Whitehouse et al. 2003; Kurtz et al. 2004; Hawley et al. 2005; Sommer 2005; Acevedo-Whitehouse et al. 2006; Luikart et al. 2008). For example, an association between reduced heterozygosity and increased parasitism with lungworms (*Protostrongylus* spp.) was demonstrated in a bottlenecked population of bighorn sheep (Ovis aries; Luikart el al. 2008). Inbred California sea lions (Zalophus californianus) correlated to a high susceptibility of helminth infection, increased parasite diversity, and longer recovery from disease. Similarly, an additional study on California sea lion pups revealed that genetic homozygosity was strongly associated with hookworm-related lesions, a weakened immune response and ability to clear hookworm infection, and mortality (Acevedo-Whitehouse et al. 2006). The results from these studies have important future implications for threatened wildlife populations with small populations.

# CONCLUSION

For the purpose of this research and future conservation management, it is critical to understand the impact that decreased immune fitness may have on a small population, such as Cascade red fox. Inbreeding that leads to a loss of immune fitness can make a species extremely vulnerable to pathogens, and in turn, may cause further population decline. In species that are already genetically immunocompromised, the added stress of parasitism may weaken their ability to fight off potentially fatal pathogens. Cascade red fox habitat at mid-elevations has been shown to be highly fragmented due to timber harvest, thus reducing the connectivity between populations (Akins 2017). Any loss in connectivity could result in reduction of gene flow and consequent genetic diversity, which is necessary to maintain viability of this threatened species (Akins 2017). Furthermore, with a genetic effective population size of 16 individuals, and a predicted loss in heterozygosity of 25% per 10 generations, canine parasites and diseases may have a detrimental impact on the small Cascade red fox population (Akins et al. 2018).

# REFERENCES

- Acevedo-Whitehouse K, Gulland F, Greig D, Amos W. 2003. Disease susceptibility in California sea lions. *Nature*. 422:35.
- Acevedo-Whitehouse K, Spraker TR, Lyons E, Melin SR, Gulland F, Delong RL, Amos W. 2006. Contrasting effects of heterozygosity on survival and hookworm resistance in California sea lion pups. *Mol Ecol.* 15(7):1973–1982.
- Acevedo-Whitehouse AK, Petetti L, Duignan P, Duignan P, Castinel A. 2009.
  Hookworm infection, anaemia and genetic variability of the New Zealand sea lion. *Proc R Soc B*. 276(1672):3523–3529.
- Actor JK, Shirait M, Kullbergt MC, Mark R, Bullert L, Sher A, Berzofskyt JA. 1993. Helminth infection results in decreased virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-cell and Thl cytokine responses as well as delayed virus clearance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*. 90:948–952.
- Aguirre AA. 2009. Wild canids as sentinels of ecological health: a conservation medicine perspective. *Parasit Vectors*. 2(1):S7.
- Aguirre AA, Tabor GM. 2008. Global factors driving emerging infectious diseases: Impact on wildlife populations. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* 1149:1–3.
- Akins JR. 2017. *Distribution, genetic structure, and conservation status of the Cascade red fox in southern Washington*. Ph.D. Dissertation. University of California, Davis, California, USA.
- Akins JR, Aubry KB, Sacks BN. 2018. Genetic integrity, diversity, and population structure of the Cascade red fox. *Conserv Genet*.:1–12.
- Anderson RC. 1992. Nematode parasites of vertebrates: their development and transmission. CAB International. Wallingford, UK
- Atehmengo NL, Nnagbo CS. 2014. Emerging animal parasitic diseases: a global overview and appropriate strategies for their monitoring and surveillance in Nigeria. Open Microbiol J. 8:87–94.
- Aubry KB. 1983. *The Cascade red fox: Distribution, morphology, zoogeography and ecology*. Ph.D. Dissertation. University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, USA.
- Aubry K. 1984. The recent history and present distribution of the red fox in Washington. *Northwest Sci.* 58(1):69–79.

- Aubry KB, Statham MJ, Sacks BN, Perrine JD, Wisely SM. 2009. Phylogeography of the North American red fox: vicariance in Pleistocene forest refugia. *Mol Ecol*. 18(12):2668–2686.
- Ávila M, Isaac D. 2012. Helminthic disease. In: *Retina*, Ryan SJ, Schachat AP, Wilkinson CP, Hinton DR, Sadda SR, Wiedemann P, editors. 5th ed. Saunders, Philadelphia, PA, p. 1500–1514.
- Beldomenico PM, Telfer S, Gebert S, Lukomski L, Bennett M, Begon M. 2008. Poor condition and infection: a vicious circle in natural populations. *Proc R Soc B Biol Sci.* 275(1644):1753–1759.
- Beldomenico PM, Begon M. 2010. Disease spread, susceptibility and infection intensity: vicious circles? *Trends Ecol Evol*. 25(1):21–27.
- Blagburn B. 2008. The importance of diagnosis the elusive whipworm, *Trichuris vulpis*. Novartis. 1–4.
- Blaustein AR, Kiesecker JM. 2002. Complexity in conservation: lessons from the global decline of amphibian populations. *Ecol Lett*. 5:597–608.
- Blaustein AR, Gervasi SS, Johnson PTJ, Hoverman JT, Belden LK, Bradley PW, Xie GY. 2012. Ecophysiology meets conservation: understanding the role of disease in amphibian population declines. *Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.* 367(1596):1688–1707.
- Bordes F, Morand S. 2011. The impact of multiple infections on wild animal hosts: a review. *Infect Ecol Epidemiol*. 1:7346.
- Bowman, DD, Nelson T. 2014. Canine intestinal helminths: Recommendations from the Companion Animal Parasite Council. *Today's Vet Pract*.:73–78.
- Bridger KE, Baggs EM, Finney-Crawley J. 2009. Endoparasites of the coyote (*Canis latrans*), a recent migrant to insular Newfoundland. *J Wildl Dis*. 45(4):1221–1226.
- Broughton H. 2017. Infectious diseases of the Felidae: parasite communities from miniature to massive. Ph.D. Dissertation, Integrative Biology, Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon, USA.
- Bruňaská M, Dubinský P, Reiterová K. 1995. *Toxocara canis*: ultrastructural aspects of larval moulting in the maturing eggs. *Int J Parasitol*. 25(6):683–690.

- Brzeski KE, Harrison RB, Waddell WT, Wolf KN, Rabon DR, Taylor SS. 2015. Infectious disease and red wolf conservation: assessment of disease occurrence and associated risks. *J Mammal*. 96(4):751–761.
- Budischak SA, Jolles AE, Ezenwa VO. 2012. Direct and indirect costs of co-infection in the wild: linking gastrointestinal parasite communities, host hematology, and immune function. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 1:2–12.
- Cable J, Barber I, Boag B, Ellison AR, Morgan ER, Murray K, Pascoe EL, Sait SM, Wilson AJ, Booth M. 2017. Global change, parasite transmission and disease control: lessons from ecology. *Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.* 372(1719):20160088.
- Castro G. 1996. Helminths: structure, classification, growth, and development. In: *Medical microbiology*, Baron S, editor. 4th ed. University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston, Galveston, TX.
- Charlesworth D, Charlesworth B. 1987. Inbreeding depression and its evolutionary consequences. *Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst.* 18:237–268.
- Christin MS, Gendron AD, Brousseau P, Menard, L, Marcogliese DJ, Cyr D, Ruby S, Fournier M. 2003. Effects of agriculture pesticides on the immune system of *Rana pipiens* and on its resistance to parasitic infection. Environ Toxicol Chem. 22(5):1127–1133.
- Churcher CS. 1959. The specific status of the New World red fox. *J Mammal*. 40(4):513–520.
- Craig LS, Olden JD, Arthington AH, Entrekin S, Hawkins CP, Kelly JJ, Kennedy TA, Maitland BM, Rosi EJ, Roy AH, Strayer DL, Tank JL, West AO, Wooten MS. 2017. Meeting the challenge of interacting threats in freshwater ecosystems: a call to scientists and managers. *Elem Sci Anth.* 5:72.
- Criado-Fornelio A, Gutierrez-Garcia L, Rodriguez-Caabeiro F, Reus-Garcia E, Roldan-Soriano MA, Diaz-Sanchez MA. 2000. A parasitological survey of wild red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) from the province of Guadalajara, Spain. *Vet Parasitol*. 92(4):245–251.
- Custer JW, Pence DB. 1981. Ecological analyses of helminth populations of wild canids from the gulf costal prairies of Texas and Louisiana. *J Parasitol*. 67(3):289–307.
- Dalimi A, Sattari A, Motamedi G. 2006. A study on intestinal helminthes of dogs, foxes and jackals in the western part of Iran. *Vet Parasitol*. 142(1-2):129–133.

- Darling ES, Mcclanahan TR, Côté IM. 2010. Combined effects of two stressors on Kenyan coral reefs are additive or antagonistic, not synergistic. *Conserv Lett*. 3:122–130.
- Dantas-Torres F, Chomel BB, Otranto D. 2012. Ticks and tick-borne diseases: a one health perspective. *Trends Parasitol*. 28(10):437–446.
- Daszak P, Cunningham AA, Hyatt AD. 2000. Emerging infectious diseases of wildlife threats to biodiversity and human health. *Science*. 287:443–449.
- Davidar P, Morton ES. 2006. Are multiple infections more severe for purple martins (*Progne subis*) than single infections? *Auk*. 123(1):141–147.
- Dibble ED, Font WF, Wittrock DD. 1983. Helminths of the red fox, *Vulpes vulpes* L., in west central Wisconsin. *J Parasitol*. 69(6):1170–1172.
- Dryden MW, Payne PA, Ridley R, Smith V. 2005. Comparison of common fecal flotation techniques for the recovery of parasite eggs and oocysts. *Vet Ther*. 6:15–28.
- Dybing NA, Fleming PA, Adams PJ. 2013. Environmental conditions predict helminth prevalence in red foxes in Western Australia. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 2:165–172.
- Estrada-Peña A, Ayllón N, de la Fuente J. 2012. Impact of climate trends on tick-borne pathogen transmission. *Front Physiol*. 3(64):1–12.
- Ezenwa VO. 2016. Helminth–microparasite co-infection in wildlife: lessons from ruminants, rodents and rabbits. *Parasite Immunol*. 38:527–534.
- Ezenwa VO, Etienne RS, Luikart G, Beja-Pereira A, Jolles AE. 2010. Hidden consequences of living in a wormy world: nematode-induced immune suppression facilitates tuberculosis invasion in African buffalo. *Am Nat.* 176(5):613–624.
- Ezenwa VO, Jolles AE. 2011. From host immunity to pathogen invasion: the effects of helminth coinfection on the dynamics of microparasites. *Integr Comp Biol.* 51(4):540–551.
- Figueiredo A, Oliveira L, Madeira de Carvalho L, Fonseca C, Torres RT. 2016. Parasite species of the endangered Iberian wolf (*Canis lupus signatus*) and a sympatric widespread carnivore. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 5(2):164–167.
- Foreyt WJ. 2001. *Veterinary parasitology reference manual*. 5th ed. Blackwell Publishing Professional, Ames, IA.

Frankham R. 1998. Inbreeding and extinction: island populations. *Conserv Biol*. 12(3):665–675.

- Gilbertson MK, Haffner GD, Drouillard KG, Albert A, Dixon B. 2003. Immunosuppression in the northern leopard frog (*Rana pipiens*) induced by pesticide exposure. *Environ Toxicol Chem*. 22(1):101–110.
- Gompper ME. 2002. Top Carnivores in the suburbs? Ecological and conservation issues raised by colonization of north eastern North America by coyotes. *Bioscience*. 52(2):185.
- Gompper ME, Goodman RM, Kays RW, Ray JC, Fiorello CV, Wade SE. 2003. A survey of the parasites of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) in New York based on fecal analysis. *J Wildl Dis*. 39(3):712–717.
- Hansen AJ, Piekielek N, Davis C, Haas J, Theobald DM, Gross JE, Monahan WB, Olliff T, Running SW. 2014. Exposure of U.S. National Parks to land use and climate change 1900-2100. *Ecol Appl.* 24(3):484–502.
- Hatcher MJ, Dick JTA, Dunn AM. 2012. Diverse effects of parasites in ecosystems: linking interdependent processes. *Front Ecol Environ*. 10(4):186–194.
- Hawley DM, Sydenstricker KV, Kollias GV, Dhondt AA. 2005. Genetic diversity predicts pathogen resistance and cell-mediated immunocompetence in house finches. *Biol Lett.* 1(3):326–329.
- Hermosilla C, Kleinertz S, Silva LMR, Hirzmann J, Huber D, Kusak J, Taubert A. 2017. Protozoan and helminth parasite fauna of free-living Croatian wild wolves (*Canis lupus*) analyzed by scat collection. *Vet Parasitol*. 233:14–19.
- Hoffmann M, Hilton-Taylor C, Angulo A, Böhm M, Brooks TM, Butchart SHM, Collen B, Cox NA, Darwall WRT, Dulvy NK, Harrison, Lucy R, Katariya V, Pollock CM, Vié JC, Aguiar JM, Allen DJ, Allen GR, Amori G, Ananjeva NB, Andreone F, Andrew P, Luz A, Ortiz A, Baillie JEM, Collar NJ, Collett LC, Collette BB, Fernandez CFC, Craig MT, Crosby MJ, Cumberlidge N, Cuttelod A, Derocher AE, Diesmos AC, Garshelis DL, Gerlach J, Gower DJ, Grant TD, Hammerson GA, Harris RB, Heaney LR, Hedges SB, Hero JM, Hughes B, Hussain SA, Icochea J, Inger RF, Ishii N, Iskandar DT, Jenkins RKB, Pourkazemi M, Racey PA, Ragle JS, Ram M, Rathbun G, Reynolds RP, Rhodin AGJ, Richards SJ, Sanciangco JC, Sanders KL, Santos-Barrera G, Schipper J, Shi Y, Shoemaker A, Sillero-Zubiri C, Silvano DL, Smith KG, Smith AT, Stattersfield AJ, Symes AJ, Taber AB, Talukdar BK, Temple HJ, Timmins R, Tobias JA, Paul Van Dijk P, Veiga LM, Williamson EA, Xie F, Young BE, Akçakaya HR, Bennun L, Blackburn TM, Boitani L, Gascon C, Lacher TE, Mace GM, Mainka SA, Mcneely JA, Mittermeier RA, Reid GM, Rodriguez JP, Rosenberg AA, Samways

MJ. The Impact of conservation on the status of the world's vertebrates. *Science*. 330:1503–1509.

- Hoffmann M, Brooks TM, Butchart SHM, Gregory RD, McRae L. 2018. Trends in biodiversity: vertebrates. In: *Encyclopedia of the anthropocene: volume 3*, DellaSalla, DA, Goldstein MI, editors. 1st ed. Elsevier Inc, p. 175–184.
- Hollings T, Jones M, Mooney N, McCallum H. 2013. Wildlife disease ecology in changing landscapes: mesopredator release and toxoplasmosis. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 2(1):110–118.
- IPCC. 2007. Climate change 2007: synthesis report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, Pachauri RK and Reisinger A, editors]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, p.104.
- Jenkins EJ, Schurer JM, Gesy KM. 2011. Old problems on a new playing field: helminth zoonoses transmitted among dogs, wildlife, and people in a changing northern climate. *Vet Parasitol*. 182:54–69.
- Jenkins K, Quinn P, Reid M. 2014. Indicators for habituated and food-conditioned Cascade red foxes in Mount Rainier National Park: preliminary assessment. U.S. Geological Survey Administrative Report to Mount Rainier National Park, U.S. National Park Service.
- Kamler JF, Ballard W. 2002. A review of native and nonnative red foxes in North America. *Wildl Soc Bull*. 30(2):370–379.
- Keller LF, Waller DM. 2002. Inbreeding effects in wild populations. *Trends Ecol Evol*. 17(5):230–241.
- Khan RA. 1990. Parasitism in marine fish after chronic exposure to petroleum hydrocarbons in the laboratory and to the Exxon Valdez oil spill. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*. 44(5):759–763.
- König A, Romig T. 2010. Fox tapeworm *Echinococcus multilocularis*, an underestimated threat: a model for estimating risk of contact. *Wildlife Biol*. 16:258–266.
- Krull W. 1969. *Notes in veterinary parasitology*. The University Press of Kansas, Lawrence, KS.
- Kurtz J, Kalbe M, Aeschlimann PB, Häberli MA, Wegner KM, Reusch TBH, Milinski M. 2004. Major histocompatibility complex diversity influences parasite resistance and innate immunity in sticklebacks. *Proc R Soc London B Biol Sci.* 271(1535):197–204.

- Lacy RC. 1993. Impacts of inbreeding in natural and captive populations of vertebrates: implications for conservation. *Perspect Biol Med.* 36(3):480–496.
- Lacy RC. 1997. Importance of genetic variation to the viability of mammalian populations. *J Mammal*. 78(2):320–335.
- Lafferty KD, Kuris AM. 1999. How environmental stress affects the impacts of parasites. *Limnol Oceanogr.* 44(3):925–931.
- Laliberte AS, Ripple WJ. 2004. Range contractions of North American carnivores and ungulates. *Bioscience*. 54(2):123–138.
- Larivière S, Pasitschniak-Arts M. 1996. Vulpes vulpes. Mamm Species. 54:1-11.
- Lee ACY, Schantz PM, Kazacos KR, Montgomery SP, Bowman DD. 2010. Epidemiologic and zoonotic aspects of ascarid infections in dogs and cats. *Trends Parasitol*. 26(4):155–161.
- Lefkaditis M. 2001. Ancylostomiasis in dogs. Sci Parasitol. 1:15–22.
- Levi T, Wilmers CC. 2012. Wolves coyotes foxes : a cascade among carnivores. *Ecology*. 93(4):921–929.
- Liccioli S, Catalano S, Kutz SJ, Lejeune M, Verocai GG, Duignan PJ, Fuentealba C, Ruckstuhl KE, Massolo A. 2012. Sensitivity of double centrifugation sugar fecal flotation for detecting intestinal helminths in coyotes (*Canis latrans*). J Wildl Dis. 48(3):717–23.
- Little SE. 2007. An overview of cestode infections in dogs and cats. dvm360.com. http://veterinarymedicine.dvm360.com/overview-cestode-infections-dogs-and-cats. Accessed February 2018.
- Luikart G, Pilgrim K, Visty J, Ezenwa VO, Schwartz MK. 2008. Candidate gene microsatellite variation is associated with parasitism in wild bighorn sheep. *Biol Lett.* 4(2):228–231.
- Lynch M. 1996. A quantitative-genetic perspective on conservation issues. In: *Conservation genetics: case histories from nature*, Avise J, Hamrick J, editors. Chapman and Hall, New York, NY, p. 471-501.
- Ma G, Holland CV, Wang T, Hofmann A, Fan CK, Maizels RM, Hotez PJ, Gasser RB. 2018. Human toxocariasis. *Lancet Infect Dis*. 18(1):e14–e24.
- Marcogliese DJ, King KC, Salo HM, Fournier M, Brousseau P, Spear P, Champoux L, McLaughlin JD, Boily M. 2009. Combined effects of agricultural activity and

parasites on biomarkers in the bullfrog, *Rana catasbeiana*. *Aquat Toxicol*. 91:126–134.

- Marcogliese DJ, Dautremepuits C, Gendron AD, Fournier M. 2010. Interactions between parasites and pollutants in yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) in the St. Lawrence River, Canada: implications for resistance and tolerance to parasites. *Can J Zool*. 88(3):247–258.
- Marcogliese DJ, Pietrock M. 2011. Combined effects of parasites and contaminants on animal health: Parasites do matter. *Trends Parasitol*. 27(3):123–130.
- Massolo A, Liccioli S, Budke C, Klein C, Vuitton DA, Millon L, Gottstein B, Giraudoux P. 2014. *Echinococcus multilocularis* in North America: the great unknown. *Parasite*. 21:73.
- Miller DS, Campbell BG, McLean RG, Campos E, Covell DF. 1998. Parasites of swift fox (*Vulpes velox*) from southeastern Colorado. *Southwest Nat*. 43(4):476–479.
- Morgan ER, Wall R. 2009. Climate change and parasitic disease: farmer mitigation? *Trends Parasitol*. 25:308–313.
- Morley NJ, Lewis JW. 2014. Temperature stress and parasitism of endothermic hosts under climate change. *Trends Parasitol*. 30(5):221–227.
- Mosmann TR, Sad S. 1996. The expanding universe of T-cell subsets: Th1, Th2 and more. *Immunol Today*. 17(3):138–146.
- NatureServe. 2017. *NatureServe Explorer: An online encyclopedia of life*. Version 7.1. http://explorer.natureserve.org. Accessed May 2018.
- Nemzek ZA, Lester PA, Wolfe AM, Dysco RC, Myers Jr DD. 2015. Biology and diseases of dogs. In: *Laboratory animal medicine*, Fox JG, Anderson LC, Otto GM, Pritchett-Corning KR, Whary MT, editors. 3rd ed. Elsevier Inc, San Diego, CA, p. 511–554.
- Ostfeld RS, Brunner JL. 2015. Climate change and Ixodes tick-borne diseases of humans. *Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.* 370(1665):20140051–20140051.
- Otranto D, Cantacessi C, Dantas-Torres F, Brianti E, Pfeffer M, Genchi C, Guberti V, Capelli G, Deplazes P. 2015. The role of wild canids and felids in spreading parasites to dogs and cats in Europe. Part II: helminths and arthropods. *Vet Parasitol.* 213:12–23.

- Overgaauw PAM, van Knapen F. 2000. Dogs and nematode zoonoses. In: *Dogs, zoonoses, and public health*, Macpherson CNL, Meslin FX, Wandeler AI, editors. CABI Publishing, New York, NY, pp. 213–256.
- Parmesan C. 2006. Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. *Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst.* 37:637–669.
- Patz JA, Graczyk TK, Geller N, Vittor AY. 2000. Effects of environmental change on emerging parasitic diseases. *Int J Parasitol*. 30:1395–1405.
- Pedersen AB, Jones KE, Nunn CL, Altizer S. 2007. Infectious diseases and extinction risk in wild mammals. *Conserv Biol*. 21(5):1269–1279.
- Pedersen AB, Greives TJ. 2008. The interaction of parasites and resources cause crashes in a wild mouse population. *J Anim Ecol.* 77:370–377.
- Penn DJ, Damjanovich K, Potts WK. 2002. MHC heterozygosity confers a selective advantage against multiple-strain infections. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 99(17):11260– 11264.
- Perrine JD. 2005. *Ecology of red fox (Vulpes vulpes) in the Lassen Peak region of California, USA*. Ph.D. Dissertation. University of California, Berkeley, California, USA.
- Petty BD, Francis-Floyd R. 2018. Parasitic diseases of fish. *Merck Vet Man*. https://www.merckvetmanual.com/exotic-and-laboratory-animals/aquarium-fishes/parasitic-diseases-of-fish. Accessed March 2018.
- Pimm SL, Russell GJ, Gittleman JL, Brooks TM. 1995. The future of biodiversity. *Science*. 269(5222):347–350.
- Polley L, Thompson RCA. 2009. Parasite zoonoses and climate change: molecular tools for tracking shifting boundaries. *Trends Parasitol*. 25(6):285–291.
- Polley L, Hoberg E, Kutz S. 2010. Climate change, parasites and shifting boundaries. *Acta Vet Scand*. 52(1):S1.
- Quinn T. 1997. Coyote (*Canis latrans*) habitat selection in urban areas of western Washington via analysis of routine movements. *Northwest Sci.* 71(4):289–297.
- Radomski AA. 1989. Host-parasite relationships of helminths in a coyote population from southern Texas with particular reference to the dog hookworm. Thesis.
  Wildlife Science. Texas Tech University, Lubbock, Texas, USA.

- Redman WK, Bryant JE, Ahmad G. 2016. Gastrointestinal helminths of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) from Southeast Nebraska and Shenandoah area of Iowa. *Vet World*. 9(9):970–975.
- Reese A. 2007. Addressing food conditioning of Cascade red foxes in Mount Rainier National Park, Washington. Thesis. Master of Environmental Studies. The Evergreen State College, Olympia, Washington, USA.
- Reinemeyer CR. 2016. Formulations and clinical uses of pyrimidine compounds in domestic animals. In: *Pyrantel parasiticide therapy in humans and domestic animals*, Marchiondo A, editor. Elsevier Inc., pp. 67–107.
- Reperant LA, Hegglin D, Fischer C, Kohler L, Weber JM, Deplazes P. 2007. Influence of urbanization on the epidemiology of intestinal helminths of the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Geneva, Switzerland. *Parasitol Res.* 101(3):605–611.
- Richards DT, Harris S, Lewis JW. 1995. Epidemiological studies on intestinal helminth parasites of rural and urban red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in the United Kingdom. *Vet Parasitol*. 59(1):39–51.
- Sacks BN, Statham MJ, Perrine JD, Wisely SM, Aubry KB. 2010. North American montane red foxes: expansion, fragmentation, and the origin of the Sacramento Valley red fox. *Conserv Genet*. 11(4):1523–1539.
- Saeed I, Maddox-Hyttel C, Monrad J, Kapel CMO. 2006. Helminths of red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Denmark. *Vet Parasitol*. 139(1-3):168–179.
- Sargeant AB, Allen SH. 1989. Observed interactions between coyotes and red foxes. *J Mammal*. 70(3):631–633.
- Schnieder T, Laabs EM, Welz C. 2011. Larval development of *Toxocara canis* in dogs. *Vet Parasitol*. 175:193–206.
- Seguel M, Gottdenker N. 2017. The diversity and impact of hookworm infections in wildlife. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 6(3):177–194.
- Smith KF, Acevedo-Whitehouse K, Pedersen AB. 2009. The role of infectious diseases in biological conservation. *Anim Conserv.* 12:1–12.
- Sommer S. 2005. The importance of immune gene variability (MHC) in evolutionary ecology and conservation. *Front Zool*. 2(16).
- Statham MJ, Sacks BN, Aubry KB, Perrine JD, Wisely SM. 2012. The origin of recently established red fox populations in the United States: translocations or natural range expansions? *J Mammal*. 93(1):52–65.

- Stuart P, Golden O, Zintl A, de Waal T, Mulcahy G, McCarthy E, Lawton C. 2013. A coprological survey of parasites of wild carnivores in Ireland. *Parasitol Res.* 112(10):3587–3593.
- Tackmann K, Löschner U, Mix H, Staubach C, Thulke H-H, Ziller M, Conraths FJ. 2001. A field study to control *Echinococcus multilocularis*-infections of the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) in an endemic focus. *Epidemiol Infect*. 127(3):577–87.
- Taylor WP, Shaw WT. 1927. *Mammals and birds of Mt. Rainier National Park*. U.S. Government Print Office. Department of the Interior. Washington, D.C., 115 pp.
- Taylor MA, Coop RL, Wall RL. 2016. *Veterinary Parasitology*. 4th ed. Wiley Blackwell, Ames, IA.
- Telfer S, Birtles R, Bennett M, Lambin X, Paterson S, Begon M. 2008. Parasite interactions in natural populations: insights from longitudinal data. Parasitology. 135:767–781.
- Telfer S, Bown K. 2012. The effects of invasion on parasite dynamics and communities. *Funct Ecol.* 26(6):1288–1299.
- Templeton AR, Shaw K, Routman E, Davis SK. 1990. The genetic consequences of habitat fragmentation. *Ann Missouri Bot Gard*. 77(1):13–27.
- Traversa D. 2011. Are we paying too much attention to cardio-pulmonary nematodes and neglecting old-fashioned worms like *Trichuris vulpis*? *Parasites and Vectors*. 4(1):1–11.
- Vaumourin E, Vourc'h G, Gasqui P, Vayssier-Taussat M. 2015. The importance of multiparasitism: examining the consequences of co-infections for human and animal health. *Parasit Vectors*. 8:545.
- Voight DR. 1987. Red fox. In: Wild furbearer management and conservation in North America, Novak M, Baker JA, Obbard ME, Malloch B, editors. Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources, Toronto, Ontario, p. 379-382.
- Weinstein SB, Lafferty KD. 2015. How do humans affect wildlife nematodes? *Trends Parasitol.* 31(5):222–227.
- Willingham AL, Ockens NW, Kapel CMO, Monrad J. 1996. A helminthological survey of wild red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) from the metropolitan area of Copenhagen. J *Helminthol.* 70(3):259–263.

Wolfe A, Hogan S, Maguire D, Fitzpatrick C, Vaughan L, Wall D, Hayden TJ, Mulcahy G. 2001. Red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Ireland as hosts for parasites of potential zoonotic and veterinary significance. *Vet Rec.* 149(25):759–763.



**Figure 1.1** Female Cascade red fox (*Vulpes vulpes cascadensis*) in Mount Rainier National Park; detected approximately 1600m outside (westside) of Paradise. Photo by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 1.2** Mount Rainier National Park; view from above Paradise. Photo by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 1.3** Map of Washington State with close-up (inset) of southern Cascade Range (Mount Rainier National Park, Snoqualmie National Forest, Gifford Pinchot National Forest) where Cascade red fox (*Vulpes vulpes cascadensis*) has been mainly detected (Aubry 1983; Akins et al. 2018). Map created by Jessica Brown. Base map courtesy of ArcGIS.



**Figure 1.4** Basic life cycle diagrams for nematodes: (a) direct and (b) indirect (Taylor et al. 2016).



**Figure 1.5** Microscopic view of *Toxocara canis* egg. Photo courtesy of Mills 2006, Wikimedia Commons.



**Figure 1.6** Life cycle diagram of the ascarid, *Toxocara canis* in canids (Bruňaská et al. 1995; Schnieder et al. 2011; Nemzek et al. 2015; Taylor et al. 2016). Purple shading represents parasite life cycle in pups younger than six months of age; blue shading represents parasite life cycle in canids older than six months of age. Diagram created by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 1.7** Microscopic view (100x magnification) of *Toxascaris leonina* egg. Photo by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 1.8** Embryonated *Toxascaris leonina* eggs under 40x magnification; very heavy parasite load. Photo by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 1.9** Life cycle of the hookworm, *Ancylostoma caninum* (Lefkaditis 2001). Purple shading represents parasite life cycle in pups; blue shading represents parasite life cycle in adult canids. Diagram by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 1.10** Microscopic view (40x magnification) of hookworm, *Ancylostoma caninum* (blue circle) and whipworm, *Trichuris vulpis* (red arrow). Photo by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 1.11** Microscopic view (40x magnification) of *Diplydium caninum* proglottid with several eggs (red arrows and inside red circle). Photo by Jessica Brown

# CHAPTER 2:

# A PARASITOLOGICAL SURVEY OF THE CASCADE RED FOX (VULPES VULPES CASCADENSIS) AND THE COYOTE (CANIS LATRANS) IN MOUNT RAINIER NATIONAL PARK

Jessica Brown

Manuscript in preparation for submission to: Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 1335 Springdale Road, NE, Atlanta, GA 30306, USA.

# ABSTRACT

Parasites are ubiquitous in wildlife and can pose a significant risk to population dynamics of threatened and endangered species. In this study, I determined the prevalence of gastrointestinal helminth parasites in two wild canids of Mount Rainier National Park located in Washington State: the Cascade red fox (Vulpes vulpes *cascadensis*) and the coyote (*Canis latrans*). Fecal flotations were performed on a total of 128 scats (92 fox, 36 coyote) collected between July and August 2017 during a mesocarnivore scat survey. Overall prevalence of helminth infection in Cascade red fox was 25%, with three helminth species identified: Toxocara canis (13%), Toxascaris leonina (13%), and Ancylostoma caninum in one individual. The prevalence of overall helminth infection was less in covotes at 14% with two species identified: Toxocara canis (11%), and Toxascaris leonina (6%). Results were compared to previous data recorded from fecal flotations performed on Cascade red fox scat (n=40) collected in 2016. Findings revealed an overall helminth prevalence of 45% with four types of helminths identified: T. canis (18%), T. leonina (23%), A. caninum (13%), and a Taeniid species recovered from one individual. To my knowledge, this is the first fecal analysis study of helminth fauna for Cascade red fox and coyotes in this location. My results show that both canids carry parasite species with potential pathogenicity as well as those of zoonotic concern. Going forward with this baseline data, I recommend continued studies with a more comprehensive approach to further understand the impacts of parasitism in a changing world.

# INTRODUCTION

Across the world, the loss of biodiversity is increasing and more species are becoming threatened or endangered (Pimm et al. 1995; Lynch 1996; Lacy 1997; Aguirre and Tabor, 2008). In particular, Cascade red fox (Vulpes vulpes cascadensis), a rare species, has experienced recent population decline likely as a result of anthropogenic effects (Akins et al. 2018). While the exact causes behind Cascade red fox population decline is unknown, initial decline is likely attributed to the historically common practices of fur-trapping and poisoning of carnivores (Aubry 1983; Laliberte and Ripple 2004). The only native red fox in Washington State, this montane fox subspecies is adapted to live at high elevations of alpine and subalpine habitats in the Cascade mountain range (Aubry 1983). Their entire range once spanned throughout the entire Cascade Range in Washington from southern British Columbia, Canada, through southern Washington State, however, recent surveys suggest that their distribution is limited to the southern Cascades of Washington in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA) and parts of Gifford Pinchot National Park (Jenkins et al. 2014; Akins et al. 2018). The rarity of Cascade red fox and the fragmentation of its specialized montane habitat makes this species particularly vulnerable to adverse effects of parasitism and consequent extirpation (Akins 2017).

Anthropogenic activities such as habitat destruction and fragmentation, pollution, urbanization, globalization, and global climate change are contributing to an increased prevalence of infectious disease and parasitism among wildlife (Dazsak et al. 2000; Aguirre and Tabor 2008). The dynamics of disease transmission are changing with altered ecosystems and closer contact between humans, domestic animals, and wildlife

(Dazsak et al. 2000; Aguirre and Tabor 2008; Aguirre 2009; Hollings et al. 2013). The consequences can be devastating and cause further population decline in threatened and endangered species already facing a number of environmental stressors (Daszak et al. 2000), such as Cascade red fox. Red foxes worldwide are notorious for harboring a broad spectrum of canine gastrointestinal helminths, including several of zoonotic significance (Dibble et al. 1983; Richards et al. 1995; Wolfe et al. 2001; Dalimi et al. 2006; Saeed et al. 2006; Dybing, 2013). While many helminths do not produce clinical disease, nonetheless, parasites induce stress in their hosts (Lafferty and Kuris 1999). Additional stressors, such as adverse environmental conditions, may reduce a host's immune fitness, consequently increasing the level of pathogenicity of parasite infections (Beldomenico and Begon 2009; Marcogliese and Pietrock 2011). A loss of genetic variation is plausible for Cascade red fox due to the likelihood of inbreeding in this small, fragmented population (Lacy 1993; Lacy 1997). Low genetic variation may negatively impact their immune fitness and increase susceptibility to parasites with consequences of increased morbidity and mortality (Lynch 1996).

Cascade red fox also faces the threat of potential encroachment of the coyote (*Canis latrans*) into their habitat (Jenkins et al. 2014; Akins 2017). While historically absent from high elevations (Quinn 1997) due to an inability to adapt to heavy snow conditions (Perrine 2005), the coyotes' range could expand as a result of landscape changes and warming climate (Akins 2017). Coyotes are known to carry a variety of canine parasites (Radomski 1989; Foster et al. 2003; Gompper et al. 2003; Bridger et al. 2009; Liccioli et al. 2012; Redman et al. 2016), and as such, future parasite spillover into the Cascade red fox population is likely if these two species eventually share habitat.

Coyotes may also introduce exotic parasites into a naïve population that has ultimately lived in isolation from other canids.

Previous research on helminth infection in Cascade red fox is limited, with only one study examining the helminth fauna from gastrointestinal contents of 13 deceased individuals (Aubry 1983). As for coyotes in MORA, I have not uncovered any previous research. Thus, the aim of this study is to provide baseline data on the prevalence and intensity of helminth infection in Cascade red fox and coyotes of MORA. This study provides a starting point for understanding the impacts of parasites and disease on the threatened Cascade red fox.

### METHODS

#### Study area

The area of focus for the study covered 750 km<sup>2</sup> in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA) of the southern Washington Cascade Range (Figure 2.1). A mesocarnivore survey team, consisting of up to eight field-trained technicians, surveyed several hiking trails in the summer of 2016 and 2017 within the park at elevations ranging from 750 to 3000 meters. Landscape types included low elevation forests, subalpine forests, subalpine parklands, and alpine grasslands (Akins, 2017). The trail system of MORA is frequented by hikers during the summer months, with Paradise having the highest number of human visitors (MORA 2017). Despite their rarity, Cascade red fox is often sighted in developed areas of MORA, such as Paradise, because of food-conditioning behaviors and habituation that have occurred across several generations (Reese 2007; Jenkins et al. 2014).

#### Sample collection

Between July and August 2017, feces from Cascade red fox (n=92) and covote (n=36) were collected during scat trail surveys conducted by the MORA mesocarnivore survey team (Figure 2.2). For the prior year, Cascade red fox (n=40) feces were collected by the survey team during June and September 2016 (Figure 2.3). The surveys involved scanning the trail edges (especially in grass and shrubs), along boulders, and logs and stumps while hiking. All surveys involved one to two people and typically began at a trailhead with the odometer of a GPS starting at zero. When a scat was located and determined to be from either Cascade red fox or coyote, the GPS waypoints (latitude, longitude, and elevation) were recorded in a field notebook or data form as well as on a plastic collection bag and vial. Prior to collection, a photograph was taken of the scat sample with vial and label, and GPS showing the waypoints (Figure 2.4). In addition to recording the waypoints, each scat was assigned a field ID consisting of the date, species, and number of scat found for the day. The scat was collected and placed into the labeled plastic bag and labeled vial. At the end of the daily survey, all of the vials had 95% ethanol added to them and all samples (vials and bags) were then placed in a -20C freezer.

Following collection, each sample was separated into three subsamples and labeled accordingly (Figure 2.5). Samples were transported from MORA on ice to The Evergreen State College laboratory to store in the refrigerator (at 10 degrees C) until examination.

### Laboratory analyses

Parasite assays were performed on each fecal sample following the centrifugation fecal flotation technique using a sugar saturation solution (Foreyt 2001; Dryden et al. 2005). Centrifugation is the preferred method for fecal analysis because of its consistency in recovering most intestinal helminth eggs and protozoan oocysts with the least amount of false-negatives (Dryden et al. 2005; Dryden and Payne 2010; Liccioli et al. 2012). In order to detect parasite eggs in a fecal solution and float them to the surface, the specific gravity (SG) must be more than the eggs themselves. The sugar solution has an SG of 1.27, whereas most parasite eggs and larvae have a SG of 1.05 to 1.23 (Dryden et al. 2005). Centrifugation provides a more consistent recovery as compared to passive flotation methods.

The parasite analysis was performed on six samples at a time and begun by placing approximately one to two grams of fecal material from each sample into individual small paper cups (Figure 2.6). A new paper cup was used for each sample. To each paper cup, 10 mL of sugar solution was added and mixed thoroughly using a metal lab spatula, making sure to break down dry feces to create a fecal suspension. The suspension was then strained through a clean tea strainer into a clean paper cup, poured into a 15 mL test tube, and placed into the centrifuge. The spatula and tea strainer were disinfected with a 10% bleach solution in between samples to avoid cross-contamination. Additional sugar solution was added to each test tube allowing for approximately one inch of space from the top. The six tubes were centrifuged at 1400 RPM for five minutes. Following centrifugation, the test tubes were removed and placed in a test tube rack. I added additional sugar solution to each tube to create a slight meniscus at the top, added

coverslips to each, and let them stand for 10 minutes to allow for egg/larvae flotation (Figure 2.7). For evaluation, I placed one of the coverslips, liquid side down, onto a glass slide. I systematically examined the slide at 10X magnification using a compound microscope and used 40X magnification as needed to confirm results when parasite eggs were detected. Helminth eggs and larvae were identified (Foreyt 2001), quantified with a scoring system for determining the parasite intensity (low, moderate, heavy, very heavy) (Table 2.1), and recorded. Fecal examinations for the samples collected in 2016 were conducted by a veterinary student from the University of Wisconsin-Madison; results were provided by MORA.

#### Data analyses

The data was compiled into a spreadsheet using Microsoft Excel 2013 to summarize the following: Date collected, geographic location of the collected scats (GPS waypoints and elevation), parasite detection (yes or no), and parasite load (low, moderate, heavy, very heavy) for each parasite species detected.

Maps were generated with ArcGIS to show the location of each collected Cascade red fox scat for 2016 (Figure 2.8), 2017 (Figure 2.9), and coyote scat for 2017 (Figure 2.10). In addition, I created a map showing the combination of Cascade red fox scat from 2016 and 2016, as well as the coyote scat collected in 2017 (Figure 2.11). I then created a map showing the location of scats positive for helminth infection and color coded the points according to the parasite diversity; 2016 Cascade red fox scat (Figure 2.12), 2017 coyote scat (Figure 2.13), and 2017 Cascade red fox scat (Figure 2.14). In addition, I

made a map with a close-up section near Paradise to show a detailed view of the 2017 Cascade red fox scats with helminth infection (Figure 2.15).

# RESULTS

From a total of 40 Cascade red fox fecal samples collected in 2016, 18 (45%) were infected by four different helminth parasites (Table 2.2). Seven fecal samples were infected with the ascarid, *Toxocara canis* (18%; low parasite load, n=4; moderate, n=1; heavy, n=1; very heavy, n=1), and 9 samples were infected with the ascarid, *Toxascaris leonina* (23%; low parasite load, n=2; moderate, n=2; heavy, n=1; very heavy, n=3). Five of the samples were infected with the hookworm, Ancylostoma caninum (13%), all of which showed a low parasite burden. Two of the fecal samples were infected with two species of helminths including one with the genus *Taenia*. From a total of 128 fecal samples collected in 2017, 28 samples (Cascade red fox = 23 [25%]; coyote = 5 [14%]) were infected with three different helminths (Table 2.2). Twelve red fox feces were infected with T. canis (13%; low parasite load, n=7; moderate, n=2; heavy, n=2; very heavy, n=1), and 12 samples were infected with T. leonina (13%; low parasite load, n=7; moderate, n=1; heavy, n=1; very heavy, n=3). Two samples were infected with two species of helminths with one of those having the only detection of A. caninum. Four covote fecal samples were infected with T. canis (11%; low parasite load, n=3; moderate, *n*=1), and two samples were infected with a low parasite burden of *T. leonina* (Table 2.2). Only one sample was infected with the both ascarids.

# DISCUSSION

I detected four helminth species in Cascade red fox and coyote scats collected in
2016 and 2017. All of the helminths identified are consistent with findings from previous wild canid studies worldwide (Richards et al. 1995; Wolfe et al. 2001; Gompper et al. 2003; Saeed et al. 2006; Liccioloi et al. 2012; Figueiredo et al. 2016; Redman et al. 2016). The present study demonstrated lower parasite diversity with four types of helminths across the two canid species as compared to other studies that have identified up to 19 species (Richards et al. 1995; Gompper et al. 2003; Saeed et al. 2006), however, the majority of the studies examined gastrointestinal contents rather than scats alone.

This study showed that overall prevalence of parasitism in Cascade red fox scat was 45% (n=18) in 2016, and 25% (n=23) in 2017. Compared with studies on lowland red foxes (Richards et al. 1995; Wolfe et al. 2001; Saeed et al. 2006) and the Cascade red fox study (Aubry 1983), the results in my study show incidence of parasitism to be rather low. Similarly, the prevalence of helminths detected in coyote scat (14%, n=5) was also less than other studies with prevalence reported between 38% and 93% (Gompper et al. 2003; Bridger et al. 2009; Liccioloi et al. 2012; Redman et al. 2016). The majority of all the Cascade red fox and coyote fecal samples were infected with only one species of helminth, which was consistent with similar studies (Gompper et al. 2003; Figueiredo et al. 2016). However, Saeed et al. (2006) reported that most of the red foxes in the study were infected with multiple parasites, with the greatest proportion infected with three.

All of the helminths detected in the 2017 scat samples, and three of the four from 2016 were nematodes: *Toxocara canis*, *Toxascaris leonina*, and *Ancylostoma caninum*. While nematodes are easily recovered with the centrifugation fecal flotation using sugar solution (Dryden et al. 2005), the true prevalence in this study may be underrepresented. For the 2017 samples, both ascarids, *T. canis* and *T. leonina* were prevalent in 13% of

foxes, and in 6% of coyotes. T. canis and T. leonina had a prevalence of 18% and 23% respectively for the 2016 samples. The reported prevalence of T. canis infection in red foxes worldwide is between 56% and 80% depending on the population examined (Richards et al. 1994; Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Saeed et al. 2006). Aubry (1983) reported prevalence of ascarid infection in 77% of the Cascade red foxes examined. Hosts can be infected with T. canis or T. leonina directly through ingestion of infective eggs or paratenic hosts (Overgaauw and van Knapen, 2000; Schnieder et al. 2011; Taylor et al. 2016). Of the two ascarids detected in this study, *T. canis* is most commonly found in young canids due to its ability to be transmitted transplacentally (Ávila and Isaac 2013) and transmammary (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Schnieder et al. 2011). This ascarid is also the most pathogenic in pups, potentially causing such symptoms as diarrhea, failure to gain weight or grow, vomiting, poor haircoat, a potbellied appearance, abdominal discomfort, and reduced immune fitness (Lee et al. 2010; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Nemzek et al. 2015; Reinemeyer 2016). With its ability to migrate, T. canis is also an important zoonotic parasite that can cause a variety of toxocariasis syndromes in humans including visceral larva migrans and ocular larva migrans (Lee et al. 2010; Ma et al. 2018).

The hookworm, *A. caninum* was found in only one of the 2017 fox scats and none of the coyote scats, however, it was detected in 13% of the samples in 2016. Hookworms such as *A. caninum* and *Uncinaria stenocephala*, are the second most common nematode found in canids of the northern hemisphere (Anderson 1992; Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Otranto et al. 2015). There was no detection of *U. stenocephala* in the current study, however, it had been reported as a prevalence of 85%

(Aubry 1983). Adult hookworms hook their buccal capsules to their hosts' intestinal mucosa and feed on the ruptured capillary blood (Lefkaditis 2001). Pathogenicity of hookworms varies among species with A. caninum causing some of the most severe symptoms of all canine helminths (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000). The most dramatic consequence of A. caninum infection in pups is anemia, however, other symptoms include ill thrift, anorexia, weight loss, stunted growth, bloody diarrhea, dehydration, and poor haircoat (Bowman and Nelson 2014; Nemzek et al. 2015; Taylor et al. 2016; Seguel and Gottdenker 2017). Transmission of A. caninum to the canine host is either through ingestion of contaminated soil, paratenic host, cutaneous penetration, or in the case of nursing pups via milk (Anderson 1992; Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Lefkaditis 2001; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Nemzek et al. 2015). The ability of penetrating the skin makes this parasite a significant zoonotic threat with the potential of cutaneous larval migrans (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000). Throughout Europe, red foxes are known to be significant reservoirs of U. stenocephala, with prevalence between 38% and 86% depending on the population studied (Willingham et al. 1996; Criado-Fornelio et al. 2000; Reperant et al. 2007; Stuart et al. 2013). Endangered red wolves (*Canis rufus*) and sympatric coyotes in southeastern United States had a prevalence of 94% for A. caninum infection, and 32% prevalence of U. stenocephala infection (Brzeski et al., 2015).

Cestodes (Taeniid species) were detected in one sample from 2016 and none were detected in 2017. Cestodes are challenging to recover through fecal flotation alone because proglottids are not uniformly distributed in fecal material nor are they consistently shed from the host, and in order to float, the proglottids would need to

63

release their eggs (Little 2007; Liccioli et al. 2012; Bowman and Nelson 2014). Detection of cestodes in the prior Cascade red fox study was successful with gross examination of intestines, with prevalence of *Diplydium caninum* in 15%, *Mesocestoides* spp. in 77%, and Taenia spp. in 31% (Aubry 1983). One cestode commonly found in red foxes around the globe, *Echinococcus multilocaris*, has significant zoonotic importance because of its potential to cause the serious disease, alveolar echinococcosis (AE) in humans (Tackmann et al. 2001; König and Romig 2010; Bowman and Nelson 2014; Massolo et al. 2014; Otranto et al. 2015). E. multilocaris is expanding in range with increased wildlife infection, likely due to a warming climate (Bowman and Nelson 2014; Massolo et al. 2014; Otranto et al. 2015; Taylor et al. 2016). While E. multilocaris has not yet been detected in Cascade red fox or sympatric coyotes, future monitoring for this parasite is paramount for prevention of transmission to domestic dogs and humans who visit MORA. Throughout the scat survey, the survey team encountered several domestic dog feces. Not only are visiting pets potential reservoirs of parasites, but they themselves may be exposed to parasites and pathogens from wildlife, including those of zoonotic nature.

#### Limitations

This research was met with several limitations that may provide some explanation as to the low number of helminth diversity and lower parasitism prevalence as compared to results of similar studies. First, there was a high variability in the condition of the scats from fresh and moist to dry and overwintered. This presents a couple of problems, such as, the potential for contamination from soil-dwelling parasite species, as well as increase the likelihood for degradation of parasites due to time and environmental exposure.

While some helminth species eggs can survive through extreme freezing, the morphology of other species may be altered (Liccioli et al. 2012). Secondly, my parasite results may not be a true representation of the Cascade red fox and covote populations as a whole. Scats may have be missed during the survey because of low visibility, or the actual location was off trail. In addition, without genetic testing, it is unknown as to whether or not some samples came from the same animal. Some of the scat samples were also quite small, thereby not providing an ample amount to examine. Next, the limited duration of the survey to the summer months may pose a problem due to the seasonality of some parasite life cycles and their sensitivity to temperature and weather conditions. Further, hosts may not always shed eggs in their feces despite their helminth infection because there are times when egg excretion is greatly reduced (Liccioli et al 2012). Screening of helminths was conducted with non-invasive methods of scat collection and fecal analysis based on their suitability for studying threatened and endangered wildlife populations. Fresh fecal collection directly from the animal would likely produce higher accuracy of helminth recovery. However, it has been noted by other authors that fecal flotation underestimates the level of certain species of helminths (Willingham et al. 1996; Criado-Fornelio et al. 2000; Martínez-Carrasco et al. 2007). In regards to freezing, the initial deep freeze of the scat samples may have also caused degradation, and in the future, samples should only be kept in refrigeration for a short duration prior to analysis.

### CONCLUSION

A fundamental part of wildlife conservation is recognizing species that may serve as indicators of ecological health. Many wild canid species fit the role of sentinel species because of their threatened or endangered status, specialized habitat requirements, and sensitivity to environmental perturbations (Aguirre 2009). Parasite monitoring in wild canids can provide insight to the state of health of the environment as well as indicate which species are most affected. Knowledge gained in this study about the helminth fauna of Cascade red fox and coyotes in Mount Rainier National Park provides important information to inform their conservation. From the time of the first examination of helminth fauna of Cascade red fox in 1983 until present day, the ecosystem of MORA has undergone many alterations and has thus increased the foxes' risk of disease. Climate change is altering parasite life cycles and host-parasite dynamics, and it may promote range expansion of nonnative parasite species (Polley and Thompson 2009; Polley et al. 2010; Atehmengo and Nnagbo 2014). Therefore, routine monitoring for the presence of parasites in Cascade red fox is vital to the survival of this small, rare species.

### REFERENCES

- Aguirre AA. 2009. Wild canids as sentinels of ecological health: a conservation medicine perspective. *Parasit Vectors*. 2(1):S7.
- Aguirre AA, Tabor GM. 2008. Global factors driving emerging infectious diseases: Impact on wildlife populations. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* 1149:1–3.
- Akins JR. 2017. Distribution, genetic structure, and conservation status of the Cascade red fox in southern Washington. Ph.D. Dissertation. University of California, Davis, California, USA.
- Akins JR, Aubry KB, Sacks BN. 2018. Genetic integrity, diversity, and population structure of the Cascade red fox. *Conserv Genet*.:1–12.
- Anderson RC. 1992. Nematode parasites of vertebrates: their development and transmission. CAB International. Wallingford, UK
- Atehmengo NL, Nnagbo CS. 2014. Emerging animal parasitic diseases: a global overview and appropriate strategies for their monitoring and surveillance in Nigeria. Open Microbiol J. 8:87–94.
- Aubry KB. 1983. The Cascade red fox: Distribution, morphology, zoogeography and ecology. Ph.D. Dissertation. University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, USA.
- Ávila M, Isaac D. 2012. Helminthic disease. In: *Retina*, Ryan SJ, Schachat AP, Wilkinson CP, Hinton DR, Sadda SR, Wiedemann P, editors. 5th ed. Saunders, Philadelphia, PA, p. 1500–1514.
- Beldomenico PM, Begon M. 2010. Disease spread, susceptibility and infection intensity: vicious circles? *Trends Ecol Evol*. 25(1):21–27.
- Bowman, DD, Nelson T. 2014. Canine intestinal helminths: Recommendations from the Companion Animal Parasite Council. *Today's Vet Pract*.:73–78.
- Bridger KE, Baggs EM, Finney-Crawley J. 2009. Endoparasites of the coyote (*Canis latrans*), a recent migrant to insular Newfoundland. J Wildl Dis. 45(4):1221–1226.
- Brzeski KE, Harrison RB, Waddell WT, Wolf KN, Rabon DR, Taylor SS. 2015. Infectious disease and red wolf conservation: assessment of disease occurrence and associated risks. *J Mammal*. 96(4):751–761.

- Criado-Fornelio A, Gutierrez-Garcia L, Rodriguez-Caabeiro F, Reus-Garcia E, Roldan-Soriano MA, Diaz-Sanchez MA. 2000. A parasitological survey of wild red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) from the province of Guadalajara, Spain. *Vet Parasitol.* 92(4):245–251.
- Dalimi A, Sattari A, Motamedi G. 2006. A study on intestinal helminthes of dogs, foxes and jackals in the western part of Iran. *Vet Parasitol*. 142(1-2):129–133.
- Daszak P, Cunningham AA, Hyatt AD. 2000. Emerging infectious diseases of wildlife threats to biodiversity and human health. *Science*. 287:443–449.
- Dibble ED, Font WF, Wittrock DD. 1983. Helminths of the red fox, *Vulpes vulpes* L., in west central Wisconsin. *J Parasitol*. 69(6):1170–1172.
- Dryden MW, Payne PA, Ridley R, Smith V. 2005. Comparison of common fecal flotation techniques for the recovery of parasite eggs and oocysts. *Vet Ther*. 6:15–28.
- Dryden M, Payne P. 2010. Fecal Examination Techniques. NAVC Clin Br.:13-16.
- Dybing NA, Fleming PA, Adams PJ. 2013. Environmental conditions predict helminth prevalence in red foxes in Western Australia. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 2:165–172.
- Figueiredo A, Oliveira L, Madeira de Carvalho L, Fonseca C, Torres RT. 2016. Parasite species of the endangered Iberian wolf (*Canis lupus signatus*) and a sympatric widespread carnivore. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 5(2):164–167.
- Foreyt WJ. 2001. *Veterinary parasitology reference manual*. 5th ed. Blackwell Publishing Professional, Ames, IA.
- Foster GW, Main MB, Kinsella JM, Dixon LM, Terrell SP, Forrester DJ. 2003. Parasitic helminths and arthropods of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) from Florida, U.S.A. *Comp Parasitol*. 70(2):162–166.
- Gompper ME, Goodman RM, Kays RW, Ray JC, Fiorello CV, Wade SE. 2003. A survey of the parasites of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) in New York based on fecal analysis. *J Wildl Dis*. 39(3):712–717.
- Hollings T, Jones M, Mooney N, McCallum H. 2013. Wildlife disease ecology in changing landscapes: mesopredator release and toxoplasmosis. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 2(1):110–118.
- Jenkins K, Quinn P, Reid M. 2014. Indicators for habituated and food-conditioned Cascade red foxes in Mount Rainier National Park: preliminary assessment. U.S.

Geological Survey Administrative Report to Mount Rainier National Park, U.S. National Park Service.

- König A, Romig T. 2010. Fox tapeworm *Echinococcus multilocularis*, an underestimated threat: a model for estimating risk of contact. *Wildlife Biol*. 16:258–266.
- Lacy RC. 1993. Impacts of inbreeding in natural and captive populations of vertebrates: implications for conservation. *Perspect Biol Med.* 36(3):480–496.
- Lacy RC. 1997. Importance of genetic variation to the viability of mammalian populations. *J Mammal*. 78(2):320–335.
- Lafferty KD, Kuris AM. 1999. How environmental stress affects the impacts of parasites. *Limnol Oceanogr.* 44(3):925–931.
- Lee ACY, Schantz PM, Kazacos KR, Montgomery SP, Bowman DD. 2010. Epidemiologic and zoonotic aspects of ascarid infections in dogs and cats. *Trends Parasitol*. 26(4):155–161.
- Lefkaditis M. 2001. Ancylostomiasis in dogs. Sci Parasitol. 1:15-22.
- Liccioli S, Catalano S, Kutz SJ, Lejeune M, Verocai GG, Duignan PJ, Fuentealba C, Ruckstuhl KE, Massolo A. 2012. Sensitivity of double centrifugation sugar fecal flotation for detecting intestinal helminths in coyotes (*Canis latrans*). J Wildl Dis. 48(3):717–23.
- Little SE. 2007. An overview of cestode infections in dogs and cats. dvm360.com. http://veterinarymedicine.dvm360.com/overview-cestode-infections-dogs-and-cats. Accessed February 2018.
- Lynch M. 1996. A quantitative-genetic perspective on conservation issues. In: *Conservation genetics: case histories from nature*, Avise J, Hamrick J, editors. Chapman and Hall, New York, NY, p. 471-501.
- Ma G, Holland CV, Wang T, Hofmann A, Fan CK, Maizels RM, Hotez PJ, Gasser RB. 2018. Human toxocariasis. *Lancet Infect Dis*. 18(1):e14–e24.
- Marcogliese DJ, Pietrock M. 2011. Combined effects of parasites and contaminants on animal health: Parasites do matter. *Trends Parasitol*. 27(3):123–130.
- Martínez-Carrasco C, De Ybáñez MRR, Sagarminaga JL, Garijo MM, Moreno F, Acosta I, Hernandez S, Alonso FD. 2007. Parasites of the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes* Linnaeus, 1758) in Murcia, southeast Spain. *Rev Med Vet*. 158(7):331–335.

- Massolo A, Liccioli S, Budke C, Klein C, Vuitton DA, Millon L, Gottstein B, Giraudoux P. 2014. *Echinococcus multilocularis* in North America: the great unknown. *Parasite*. 21:73.
- MORA (Mount Rainier National Park). 2017. National Park Service, Department of the Interior. https://www.nps.gov/mora/learn/management/index.htm. Accessed February 2018.
- Nemzek ZA, Lester PA, Wolfe AM, Dysco RC, Myers Jr DD. 2015. Biology and diseases of dogs. In: *Laboratory animal medicine*, Fox JG, Anderson LC, Otto GM, Pritchett-Corning KR, Whary MT, editors. 3rd ed. Elsevier Inc, San Diego, CA, p. 511–554.
- Otranto D, Cantacessi C, Dantas-Torres F, Brianti E, Pfeffer M, Genchi C, Guberti V, Capelli G, Deplazes P. 2015. The role of wild canids and felids in spreading parasites to dogs and cats in Europe. Part II: helminths and arthropods. *Vet Parasitol.* 213:12–23.
- Overgaauw PAM, van Knapen F. 2000. Dogs and nematode zoonoses. In: *Dogs, zoonoses, and public health*, Macpherson CNL, Meslin FX, Wandeler AI, editors. CABI Publishing, New York, NY, pp. 213–256.
- Perrine JD. 2005. *Ecology of red fox (Vulpes vulpes) in the Lassen Peak region of California, USA*. Ph.D. Dissertation. University of California, Berkeley, California, USA.
- Polley L, Thompson RCA. 2009. Parasite zoonoses and climate change: molecular tools for tracking shifting boundaries. *Trends Parasitol*. 25(6):285–291.
- Polley L, Hoberg E, Kutz S. 2010. Climate change, parasites and shifting boundaries. *Acta Vet Scand*. 52(1):S1.
- Quinn T. 1997. Coyote (*Canis latrans*) habitat selection in urban areas of western Washington via analysis of routine movements. *Northwest Sci.* 71(4):289–297.
- Radomski AA. 1989. *Host-parasite relationships of helminths in a coyote population* from southern Texas with particular reference to the dog hookworm. Thesis. Wildlife Science. Texas Tech University, Lubbock, Texas, USA.
- Redman WK, Bryant JE, Ahmad G. 2016. Gastrointestinal helminths of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) from Southeast Nebraska and Shenandoah area of Iowa. *Vet World*. 9(9):970–975.

- Reese A. 2007. Addressing food conditioning of Cascade red foxes in Mount Rainier National Park, Washington. Thesis. Master of Environmental Studies. The Evergreen State College, Olympia, Washington, USA.
- Reinemeyer CR. 2016. Formulations and clinical uses of pyrimidine compounds in domestic animals. In: *Pyrantel parasiticide therapy in humans and domestic animals*, Marchiondo A, editor. Elsevier Inc., pp. 67–107.
- Reperant LA, Hegglin D, Fischer C, Kohler L, Weber JM, Deplazes P. 2007. Influence of urbanization on the epidemiology of intestinal helminths of the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Geneva, Switzerland. *Parasitol Res.* 101(3):605–611.
- Richards DT, Harris S, Lewis JW. 1995. Epidemiological studies on intestinal helminth parasites of rural and urban red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in the United Kingdom. *Vet Parasitol*. 59(1):39–51.
- Saeed I, Maddox-Hyttel C, Monrad J, Kapel CMO. 2006. Helminths of red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Denmark. *Vet Parasitol*. 139(1-3):168–179.
- Schnieder T, Laabs EM, Welz C. 2011. Larval development of *Toxocara canis* in dogs. *Vet Parasitol*. 175:193–206.
- Seguel M, Gottdenker N. 2017. The diversity and impact of hookworm infections in wildlife. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 6(3):177–194.
- Stuart P, Golden O, Zintl A, de Waal T, Mulcahy G, McCarthy E, Lawton C. 2013. A coprological survey of parasites of wild carnivores in Ireland. *Parasitol Res*. 112(10):3587–3593.
- Tackmann K, Löschner U, Mix H, Staubach C, Thulke H-H, Ziller M, Conraths FJ. 2001. A field study to control *Echinococcus multilocularis*-infections of the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) in an endemic focus. *Epidemiol Infect*. 127(3):577–87.
- Taylor MA, Coop RL, Wall RL. 2016. *Veterinary Parasitology*. 4th ed. Wiley Blackwell, Ames, IA.
- Willingham AL, Ockens NW, Kapel CMO, Monrad J. 1996. A helminthological survey of wild red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) from the metropolitan area of Copenhagen. J *Helminthol*. 70(3):259–263.
- Wolfe A, Hogan S, Maguire D, Fitzpatrick C, Vaughan L, Wall D, Hayden TJ, Mulcahy G. 2001. Red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Ireland as hosts for parasites of potential zoonotic and veterinary significance. *Vet Rec.* 149(25):759–763.

Parasite load		Number of eggs per slide		
+	Low	1-4		
++	Moderate	5-10		
+++	Heavy	11-20		
++++	Very heavy	<20		

**Table 2.1** Scoring system for determining parasite load during microscopic fecal analysis.

Table 2.2	Number of positive samples and prevalence of helminths found in fec	es
collected in	n Mount Rainier National Park.	

Canid species	Helminth species	Number positive	Prevalence (%)
	2016		
Cascade red fox $(n=36)$	Toxocara canis	7	18
Vulpes vulpes cascadensis	Toxascaris leonina	9	23
	Ancylostoma caninum	4	13
	<i>Taeniia</i> sp.	1	3
	2017		
Cascade red fox ( <i>n</i> =92)	Toxocara canis	12	13
Vulpes vulpes cascadensis	Toxascaris leonina	12	13
	Ancylostoma caninum	1	1
Coyote ( <i>n</i> =36)	Toxocara canis	4	11
Canis latrans	Toxascaris leonina	2	6



**Figure 2.1** Map of Washington State and boundary of Mount Rainier National Park. Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; World Imagery base map; boundary feature from National Park Service; USA state boundary from ESRI.



**Figure 2.2** Trails hiked and surveyed in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA) by scat survey crew in 2016. Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; coordinates provided from MORA; World Imagery base map; National Park Service boundary feature.



**Figure 2.3** Trails hiked and surveyed in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA) scat survey crew in 2017. Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; coordinates provided from MORA; World Imagery base map; National Park Service boundary feature.



**Figure 2.4** GPS showing coordinates and elevation of a coyote scat located in Mount Rainier National Park; 2017. Photo by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 2.5** Cascade red fox scat samples collected in 2017 from Mount Rainier National Park. Bags are labeled with field ID, coordinates, and elevation where collected. Photo by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 2.6** The first step of the fecal flotation process: Coyote fecal samples and the designated paper cups. Photo by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 2.7** Test tubes with coverslips during the final phase of fecal flotation. Photo by Jessica Brown.



**Figure 2.8** Map showing locations of Cascade red fox scat collected in 2016 by mesocarnivore survey team in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA). Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; coordinates provided from MORA; World Imagery base map; National Park Service boundary feature.



**Figure 2.9** Map showing locations of Cascade red fox scat collected in 2017 by mesocarnivore survey team in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA). Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; coordinates provided from MORA; World Imagery base map; National Park Service boundary feature.



**Figure 2.10** Map showing locations of coyote scat collected in 2017 by mesocarnivore survey team in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA). Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; coordinates provided from MORA; World Imagery base map; National Park Service boundary feature.



**Figure 2.11** Map showing locations of Cascade red fox scat 2016 (pink), Cascade red fox scat 2017 (blue) and coyote scat 2017 (orange) collected by mesocarnivore survey team in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA). Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; coordinates provided from MORA; World Imagery base map; National Park Service boundary feature.



**Figure 2.12** Map showing the location of each Cascade red fox scat with helminth infection for 2016 in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA). The scats are color coded based on the helminth detected and the parasite load. Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; coordinates provided from MORA; World Imagery base map; National Park Service boundary feature.



**Figure 2.13** Map showing the location of each coyote scat with helminth infection for 2017 in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA). The scats are color coded based on the helminth detected and the parasite load. Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; coordinates provided from MORA; World Imagery base map; National Park Service boundary feature.



**Figure 2.14** Map showing the location of each Cascade red fox scat with helminth infection for 2017 in Mount Rainier National Park (MORA). The scats are color coded based on the helminth detected and the parasite load. Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; coordinates provided from MORA; World Imagery base map; National Park Service boundary feature.



**Figure 2.15** Close-up view of the Paradise area, Mount Rainier National Park (MORA), showing the location of each Cascade red fox scat with helminth infection for 2017. The scats are color coded based on the helminth detected and the parasite load. Map created by Jessica Brown using ArcGIS online; coordinates provided from MORA; World Imagery base map; National Park Service boundary feature.

## **CHAPTER 3**

# SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

Carnivores in North America are experiencing population declines and a decrease in their range, mainly as a result of human activities (Laliberte and Ripple 2004) such as habitat loss and degradation, habitat fragmentation, pollution, urbanization, and climate change (Pimm et al. 1995; Aguirre and Tabor 2008). These environmental alterations are also having an impact on disease emergence and transmission of parasites among wildlife species and humans (Dazsak et al. 2000; Aguirre and Tabor 2008; Aguirre 2009; Hollings et al. 2013). Threatened or endangered wildlife species with small populations are particularly vulnerable to the consequences of disease and parasitism, potentially causing further population decline (Dazsak et al. 2000). Further, disease transmission is changing as a result of closer contact between humans, domestic animals, and wildlife (Dazsak et al. 2000; Aguirre and Tabor 2008; Aguirre 2009; Hollings et al. 2013). Cascade red fox (Vulpes vulpes cascadensis), the only native red fox in Washington State, is one such mesocarnivore that has experienced recent population decline likely attributed to human impact (Akins et al. 2018). Historically, Cascade red fox could be found at high elevations throughout the entire Cascade Range, however, more recently they have only been detected in the southern Cascades (Akins et al. 2018), specifically in the Mount Rainier National Park (MORA) and parts of Gifford Pinchot National Park (Jenkins et al. 2014). With their small population, this montane red fox subspecies faces multiple threats and is susceptible to further population decline should disease become a threat. Cascade red fox is also showing a loss in genetic diversity which can lead to inbreeding (Akins et

al. 2018). Inbreeding has been linked to a reduction in an individual's fitness including the ability to resist many parasites and pathogens (Charlesworth and Charlesworth 1987; Templeton et al. 1990; Lynch 1996; Lacy 1997).

In addition to direct consequences of human activities, the movement of coyotes into Cascade red fox habitat is another threat. The pre-colonial range of the coyote was limited to the Great Plains and since the 1800s they rapidly expanded their range to most of North America (Gompper 2002). Landscape alterations, warming climate, and decreasing snow pack may influence the range of coyotes, creating habitat more conducive to this wild canid species (Perrine 2005). Coyotes are known to be dominant competitors and predators of red fox (Sargeant and Allen 1989; Levi and Wilmers 2012), as well as host to a variety of canine parasites and pathogens (Radomski 1989; Foster et al. 2003; Gompper et al. 2003; Bridger et al. 2009; Liccioli et al. 2012; Redman et al. 2016). The possibility for future parasite spillover from coyotes into Cascade red fox populations is likely if these two wild canids share the same habitat.

My research aims to provide valuable insight into future potential threats to Cascade red fox populations through investigation and characterization of gastrointestinal parasites (helminths) within this species and the sympatric coyote. Information generated from this study will help inform wildlife managers and allow researchers to measure changes in parasite diversity and intensity to help inform conservation.

This study focused on parasite analysis of Cascade red fox scat and coyote scat that was collected during surveys conducted in the summer of 2016 and 2017 in MORA. Results showed that both Cascade red fox and coyotes carry common canine helminths that have pathogenic potential (Bowman and Nelson 2014; Nemzek et al. 2015; Taylor et al. 2016; Seguel and Gottdenker 2017) as well as those with zoonotic importance (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Lee et al. 2010; Ma et al. 2018). Overall prevalence of helminth infection in Cascade red fox for 2017 was 25% with a total of three helminth species identified: Toxocara canis (13%), Toxascaris leonina (13%), and Ancylostoma *caninum* in one individual. The prevalence of overall helminth infection was less in covotes at 14% with two species identified: Toxocara canis (11%), and Toxascaris *leonina* (6%). Results from 2016 revealed an overall helminth prevalence of 45% with four types of helminths identified: T. canis (18%), T. leonina (23%), A. caninum (13%), and a Taeniid species recovered from one individual. The nematodes T. canis and A. *caninum* are among helminths with the potential to cause disease in their hosts, including the accidental human host. In canines, clinical symptoms are mainly seen in young pups and can include weight loss, diarrhea, vomiting, poor haircoat, and unthriftiness (Bowman and Nelson 2014; Taylor et al. 2016; Seguel and Gottdenker 2017). Pups infected with A. caninum may also suffer from anemia, which can be quite debilitating (Overgaauw and van Knapen 2000; Bowman and Nelson 2014). While parasites are ubiquitous, and alone do not always cause clinical disease, additional stressors such as coinfection with other parasites, and the added effects of climate change and habitat fragmentation can increase susceptibility to morbidity and mortality.

With a small genetic effective population size, Cascade red fox is facing additional loss of genetic diversity (Akins et al. 2018), and therefore may be less resilient in the future to undergo parasitism and disease. Going forward, it is important to continue including parasitological surveys with other research currently conducted on Cascade red fox. Knowledge on the parasite fauna of Cascade red fox and understanding of host-

88

parasite dynamics through a continually changing environment is a crucial component in the conservation of this species.

### REFERENCES

- Aguirre AA, Tabor GM. 2008. Global factors driving emerging infectious diseases: Impact on wildlife populations. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* 1149:1–3.
- Aguirre AA. 2009. Wild canids as sentinels of ecological health: a conservation medicine perspective. *Parasit Vectors*. 2(1):S7.
- Akins JR, Aubry KB, Sacks BN. 2018. Genetic integrity, diversity, and population structure of the Cascade red fox. *Conserv Genet*.:1–12.
- Bowman, DD, Nelson T. 2014. Canine intestinal helminths: Recommendations from the Companion Animal Parasite Council. *Today's Vet Pract*.:73–78.
- Bridger KE, Baggs EM, Finney-Crawley J. 2009. Endoparasites of the coyote (*Canis latrans*), a recent migrant to insular Newfoundland. *J Wildl Dis*. 45(4):1221–1226.
- Charlesworth D, Charlesworth B. 1987. Inbreeding depression and its evolutionary consequences. *Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst.* 18:237–268.
- Daszak P, Cunningham AA, Hyatt AD. 2000. Emerging infectious diseases of wildlife threats to biodiversity and human health. *Science*. 287:443–449.
- Foster GW, Main MB, Kinsella JM, Dixon LM, Terrell SP, Forrester DJ. 2003. Parasitic helminths and arthropods of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) from Florida, USA. *Comp Parasitol*. 70(2):162-166.
- Gompper ME. 2002. Top Carnivores in the suburbs? Ecological and conservation issues raised by colonization of north eastern North America by coyotes. *Bioscience*. 52(2):185.
- Gompper ME, Goodman RM, Kays RW, Ray JC, Fiorello CV, Wade SE. 2003. A survey of the parasites of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) in New York based on fecal analysis. *J Wildl Dis*. 39(3):712–717.
- Hollings T, Jones M, Mooney N, McCallum H. 2013. Wildlife disease ecology in changing landscapes: mesopredator release and toxoplasmosis. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 2(1):110–118.
- Jenkins K, Quinn P, Reid M. 2014. Indicators for habituated and food-conditioned Cascade red foxes in Mount Rainier National Park: preliminary assessment. U.S. Geological Survey Administrative Report to Mount Rainier National Park, U.S. National Park Service.

- Lacy RC. 1997. Importance of genetic variation to the viability of mammalian populations. *J Mammal*. 78(2):320–335.
- Laliberte AS, Ripple WJ. 2004. Range contractions of North American carnivores and ungulates. *Bioscience*. 54(2):123–138.
- Lee ACY, Schantz PM, Kazacos KR, Montgomery SP, Bowman DD. 2010. Epidemiologic and zoonotic aspects of ascarid infections in dogs and cats. *Trends Parasitol*. 26(4):155–161.
- Levi T, Wilmers CC. 2012. Wolves coyotes foxes : a cascade among carnivores. *Ecology*. 93(4):921–929.
- Liccioli S, Catalano S, Kutz SJ, Lejeune M, Verocai GG, Duignan PJ, Fuentealba C, Ruckstuhl KE, Massolo A. 2012. Sensitivity of double centrifugation sugar fecal flotation for detecting intestinal helminths in coyotes (*Canis latrans*). J Wildl Dis. 48(3):717–23.
- Lynch M. 1996. A quantitative-genetic perspective on conservation issues. In: *Conservation genetics: case histories from nature*, Avise J, Hamrick J, editors. Chapman and Hall, New York, NY, p. 471-501.
- Ma G, Holland CV, Wang T, Hofmann A, Fan CK, Maizels RM, Hotez PJ, Gasser RB. 2018. Human toxocariasis. *Lancet Infect Dis*. 18(1):e14–e24.
- Nemzek ZA, Lester PA, Wolfe AM, Dysco RC, Myers Jr DD. 2015. Biology and diseases of dogs. In: *Laboratory animal medicine*, Fox JG, Anderson LC, Otto GM, Pritchett-Corning KR, Whary MT, editors. 3rd ed. Elsevier Inc, San Diego, CA, p. 511–554.
- Overgaauw PAM, van Knapen F. 2000. Dogs and nematode zoonoses. In: *Dogs, zoonoses, and public health*, Macpherson CNL, Meslin FX, Wandeler AI, editors. CABI Publishing, New York, NY, pp. 213–256.
- Perrine JD. 2005. *Ecology of red fox (Vulpes vulpes) in the Lassen Peak region of California, USA*. Ph.D. Dissertation. University of California, Berkeley, California, USA.
- Pimm SL, Russell GJ, Gittleman JL, Brooks TM. 1995. The future of biodiversity. *Science*. 269(5222):347–350.
- Radomski AA. 1989. *Host-parasite relationships of helminths in a coyote population* from southern Texas with particular reference to the dog hookworm. Thesis. Wildlife Science. Texas Tech University, Lubbock, Texas, USA.

- Redman WK, Bryant JE, Ahmad G. 2016. Gastrointestinal helminths of coyotes (*Canis latrans*) from Southeast Nebraska and Shenandoah area of Iowa. *Vet World*. 9(9):970–975.
- Sargeant AB, Allen SH. 1989. Observed interactions between coyotes and red foxes. *J Mammal*. 70(3):631–633.
- Seguel M, Gottdenker N. 2017. The diversity and impact of hookworm infections in wildlife. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl*. 6(3):177–194.
- Taylor WP, Shaw WT. 1927. *Mammals and birds of Mt. Rainier National Park*. U.S. Government Print Office. Department of the Interior. Washington, D.C., 115 pp.
- Templeton AR, Shaw K, Routman E, Davis SK. 1990. The genetic consequences of habitat fragmentation. *Ann Missouri Bot Gard*. 77(1):13–27.